ANDOVER PUBLIC SCHOOLS ANDOVER, MA 01810

AGREEMENT

Andover School Committee

and the

Andover Education Association

September 1, 2014 to August 31, 2017

Table of Contents

Article	Title	Page Number
Preamble		3
1	Scope	4
2	Conditions of Employment	5
3	Dues Deduction and Agency Service Fee and VOTE	5
4	Grievance Procedure	6
5	Reopening	9
6	Graduate Study	9
7	Teacher Year, Day, Load	12
8	Specialists	17
9	Interschool and Professional Leave Travel	17
10	Resignations	18
11	Assignments and Transfers	19
12	Non-Teaching Duties	20
13	Deviations from Salary Schedule	21
14	General	21
15	Sick Leave	22
16	Experience Allowed	24
17	Health Insurance	25
18	Professional Leave	25
19	Personal Leave	26
20	Extended Leaves of Absence	26
21	Childbearing and Child Rearing Leave	29
22	Jury Leave	30
23	Death in Family	31
24	Unclassified Absences	31
25	Protection	31
26	Teacher Rights	32
27	Reduction in Force	34
28	Teacher Evaluation	37
29	Vacancies	39
30	Program Liaison, Curriculum Advisors, Team Leaders	40
31	Assistants	40
32	Pay Schedule	41
33	Education of Dependent Children	42

34	Longevity Pay	43
35	403b Benefit	43
36	Time and Learning- General Concepts	44
37	Summer School	46
38	Nurses	47
39	Effect of Agreement	53
40	Savings Clause	53
Appendix A	Teachers' Salary Schedule	55
	Explanation of Tracks	57
	Additional Conditions	57
Appendix B	Intramurals	60
	Coaching Salary Schedule	61
	Extra Curricular Stipends	67
Appendix C	Professional Stipends and Differentials	70
Appendix D	Teacher Evaluation	73

This AGREEMENT is entered into as of September 1, 2014, and shall continue in full force and effect through August 31, 2017.

CONTRACT

Pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 150E of the General Laws of Massachusetts, this Contract is made this 31st day of January, 2014, to be effective September 1, 2014 by the School Committee of the Town of Andover (hereinafter referred to as the Committee) and the Andover Education Association (hereinafter referred to as the Association).

Preamble

Recognizing that our prime purpose is to provide education of the highest possible quality for the children of Andover and that good morale within the teaching staff of Andover is essential to the achievement of that purpose, we the undersigned parties to the contract declare that:

- a. Under the law of Massachusetts, the Committee, elected by the citizens of Andover, has final responsibility for establishing the educational policies of the public schools of Andover. Nothing in this agreement shall be deemed to derogate from or impair the powers and responsibilities of the Committee under the statutes of the Commonwealth, or the rules or regulations of any agency of the Commonwealth. As to every matter not covered by this Agreement, the Committee retains all the rights, powers, and duties it has by law, and may exercise the same without any such exercise being made the subject of an arbitration proceeding hereunder;
- b. The Superintendent of Schools of Andover (hereinafter referred to as the Superintendent) has responsibility for carrying out the policies so established;
- c. The teaching staff of the public schools of Andover has responsibility for providing in the classrooms of the schools, education of the highest possible quality;
- d. Fulfillment of these respective responsibilities can be facilitated and supported by consultation and free exchange of views and information between the Committee, the Superintendent, and the teaching staff in the formulation and application of policies relating to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment for the teaching staff;

e. To give effect to these declarations, the following principles and procedures are hereby adopted.

ARTICLE 1

<u>Scope</u>

- 1-01 For the purposes of collective bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment, the negotiating of collective bargaining agreements, and any questions arising there under, the Committee recognizes the Association as the exclusive bargaining agent and representative of all professional employees defined in 1-02 (as such employees are defined in Chapter 150E of the General Laws of Massachusetts).
- 1-02 Unit A shall be comprised of all classroom teachers, program heads with teaching assignments, media librarians/digital learning specialists, learning specialists, guidance counselors, school social workers, moderate and severe special education teachers, Educational Team Facilitators, school psychologists, speech and language therapists, teachers of English as a Second Language, Reading Specialists, registered nurses, coordinator of the gifted and talented program excluding paraprofessionals and all other employees.
- 1-03 The Association agrees to allow the Committee to assign unit work to the Program Advisors at up to 40% per advisor. Should the Program Advisors be assigned 50% or more classroom instruction, the Committee agrees to join the Association in petitioning the Massachusetts State Labor Relations Commission to accrete the positions into the bargaining unit. Major assignments of substantive bargaining unit work to administrators will not be made without the consent of the Association.
- 1-04 The Association and the School Committee have established mutual goals of maintaining and promoting student achievement; recruiting and retaining the best teachers; and promoting education to the community of Andover. . During the life of this Agreement, either party may institute discussions of issues that affect our mutual goals. Discussions, under normal circumstances, shall commence no later than two weeks after receipt of notice.

Conditions of Employment

- 2-01 If, during the life of the contract, any teacher feels that an action taken by the Committee or Administration adversely affects his/her conditions of employment but does not violate the contract, the teacher should discuss the matter with his/her immediate supervisor to see if the matter can be resolved. If not resolved then:
- a. The matter will be discussed by the teacher involved, the President of the Association, and the supervisor and/or principal; if still not resolved, with the Director of Human Resources.
- b. If the matter is still not resolved, the President of the Association and Association representatives will discuss the matter with the Superintendent.
- c. If the matter is still not resolved, the President of the Association and representatives of the Association will discuss the matter with representatives of the Committee in an effort to resolve the matter. If the Association and Committee so desire, they may seek the assistance of a mutually agreed upon third party for recommendations for resolving the matter.
- 2-02 Any person(s) appearing before the Committee with regard to any matter connected with this Agreement shall be allowed to speak and have representatives of the Association act on his/her behalf provided the person is to speak on an agenda item.

ARTICLE 3

Dues Deduction and Agency Service Fee and VOTE

- 3-01 The Committee hereby accepts the provisions of Section 17-C of Chapter 180 of the General Laws of Massachusetts and, in accordance therewith, shall certify to the Town Treasurer of the Town of Andover, all payroll deductions for the payment of dues to the Association duly authorized by employees covered by this contract.
- 3-02 The Andover School Committee agrees to require, as a condition of employment, that all teachers except those certified as members to the Committee by the Association, pay annually as of the 30th day subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement or by the 30th day of any work year or by the 30th day following

appointment to a position in the bargaining unit an agency service fee. Said fee shall be equal to the amount required to become a member and remain a member in good standing of the Andover Education Association. An employee paying the agency fee shall be entitled, if he/she so demands in writing to the Association, a rebate of the pro rata share of the fee allowable under Chapter 150E, Section 12, and the regulations of the Labor Relations Commission governing agency fee. If an employee has not paid the fee or has not filed a complaint regarding the fee at the Labor Relations Commission within forty-five (45) days after the bargaining agent has made a written demand for payment of the fee, the Committee shall suspend the unit member until the fee is paid. Such suspension shall not exceed seven (7) work days.

The Union faces to indemnify the School Committee for damages or other financial loss which the School Committee may be required to pay or suffer by an administrative agency or Court of competent jurisdiction as a result of the School Committee's compliance with this Article.

3-03 Those unit members who give written authorization to the Business Office shall have a deduction in the authorized amount from each paycheck to VOTE (Voice of Teachers in Education). Authorization for the deduction must be submitted by October 15.

ARTICLE 4

Grievance Procedure

- 4-01 The purpose of the procedure set forth hereinafter is to produce prompt and equitable solutions to those grievances which, from time to time, may arise and affect the conditions of employment of the employees covered by this contract. The Committee and the Association desire that such procedures shall always be as informal and confidential as may be appropriate for the grievance involved; and nothing in the contract shall prevent any such employee from individually presenting any grievance of the employee.
- 4-02 <u>Definition of a Grievance.</u> Any complaint by an employee in the bargaining unit that: (1) he/she has been subject to a violation, inequitable application, or misinterpretation of the contract, or (2) he/she has been subject to an unfair or discriminatory act or conditions contrary to the contract.

4-03 "Day" shall mean:

- a. During the school year, school days.
- b. During the summer, Monday through Friday, except for holidays.
- 4-04 <u>Grievance Resolution.</u> In a case of a grievance, the following procedure will be followed:

Level One

a. The principal or supervisor shall meet with the grievant and the Association within five (5) days of receipt of a grievance complaint and shall render his/her decision in writing to the grievant and the Association within five (5) days following the meeting.

<u>Level Two - Superintendent</u>

- a. If the grievance is not resolved after presentation at Level One, the Association, may within five (5) days*, submit the grievance to the Superintendent.
- b. Within five (5) days* after receipt of the grievance, the Superintendent (or his/her designee) shall meet with the grievant and the Association to consider the grievance. The Superintendent (or his/her designee) shall, within five (5) days* of the conclusion of this meeting, render his/her decision in writing to the grievant and the Association.

* See definition in 4-03

<u>Level Three</u> - <u>School Committee</u>

- a. If the grievance is not resolved at Level Two, the Association may, within five (5) days*, submit the grievance to the Committee.
- b. Within ten (10) days* after submission of the grievance to the Committee, the Committee (or designated members thereof) shall meet with the grievant and the Association to consider the grievance. The Committee shall render its decision in writing to the grievant and the Association within five (5) days* of the meeting.

4-05 <u>Arbitration.</u> If, at the end of twenty-five (25) days* next following presentation of the grievance in writing to the School Committee, the grievance shall not have been disposed of to the satisfaction of the Association and the School Committee, and the grievance shall involve the interpretation or application of any provision of this contract, the Association may, by giving written notice to the School Committee within the ten (10) days* next following conclusion of such period of twenty-five (25) days*, present the grievance for arbitration in accordance with General Laws, Chapter 150E in which event the School Committee and the Association shall forthwith submit the grievance to a mutually agreed upon third party outside the Andover School System to be chosen within five (5) days*, and, if no third party is so chosen, to arbitration under the rules of the American Arbitration Association.

* See definition in 4-03

- 4-06 The arbitrator's decision will be in writing and will set forth his/her finding of fact, reasoning and conclusions on the issues submitted. In determining if there has been a violation of the contract, the arbitrator must interpret the contract but he/she will have no power to change, alter, add to or subtract from any of the terms of the contract. The arbitrator will be without power or authority to make any decision which requires the commission of an act prohibited by law. The decision of the arbitrator will be submitted to the Association and the Committee and will be final and binding. The cost of the arbitrator will be borne equally by the parties.
- 4-07 <u>General.</u> If at the end of twenty (20) days* next following the occurrence of any grievance, or the date of first knowledge of its occurrence by any employee affected by it, the grievance shall not have been presented at Level One of the procedure, set forth above, the grievance shall be deemed to have been waived; and any grievance in course under such procedure shall also be deemed to have been waived if the action required to present it to the next level in the procedure shall not have been taken within the time specified.
- 4-08 If any employee covered by this contract shall present any grievance without representation by the Association, the disposition, if any of the grievance shall be consistent with the provisions of this contract, and if the Association shall so desire, it shall be permitted to be heard at each level of the procedure under which the grievance shall be considered.

*See definition in 4-03

- 4-09 No written communication, or other document, or record relating to any grievance shall be filed in their personnel file maintained by the School Department of the Town of Andover for any employee involved in presenting such grievance.
- 4-10 It may be mutually agreed upon by both parties involved at any time at Levels One through Three of the grievance procedure, that the amount of waiting time specified before proceeding to the next level may be waived.
- 4-11 If a grievance affects a group or class of teachers, the Association may submit such grievance in writing to the Superintendent and/or his/her designee. The grievance will be processed through the levels of the grievance procedure starting at Level Two. The Association may process such a grievance even though all the aggrieved persons do not wish to do so.
- 4-12 The discharge of employees covered by this contract shall be handled solely in accordance with the terms of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 71, Section 42. No employee may grieve and/or arbitrate a discharge except in accordance with the procedures set forth in M.G.L. c. 71, § 42 unless a court or other official body rules that c.150E still apply to these cases.

Reopening

5-01 This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until August 31, 2017. Should either party wish to reopen for a successor agreement, they shall notify the other party in writing on or before October 15, 2016 of their desire to commence bargaining.

ARTICLE 6

Graduate Study

6-01 Reimbursement Fund

a. Effective September 1, 2012, the Committee will establish a tuition reimbursement fund for employees in positions represented by this bargaining unit. Such Fund shall be \$70,000 per contract year. Unused funds shall not carry over to the next contract year. The following rules apply to the Tuition Reimbursement Fund:

- 1. An applicant applying for tuition reimbursement must have been employed by the Andover Public Schools in a Unit A position for a minimum of one (1) year prior to applying for tuition reimbursement and must be employed by the Andover Public Schools at the time of reimbursement.
- 2. There is a limit of one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500) of reimbursement for graduate credits per contract year per employee up to the \$70,000 fund maximum per contract year.
- 3. The deadline for tuition reimbursement is April 1st of the year prior to which the funding is to be appropriated.
- 4. An employee seeking graduate credit tuition reimbursement must submit a written application for tuition reimbursement to the Superintendent or her/his designee.
- 5. An employee must obtain prior written approval from the Superintendent or his/her designee prior to taking the course; the decision of the Superintendent/designee shall not be arbitrary or capricious and shall be final and binding.
- 6. Employees may not obtain reimbursement for tuition if there is a voucher available to use for the course.
- 7. The Employee must obtain a grade of "B" or better in the pre-approved course to be entitled to reimbursement. If the course is not offered for a grade and is only offered on a pass/fail basis, the employee must receive a "pass" in the course to receive reimbursement.
- b. The graduate study must meet the requirement under Appendix A, Explanation of Tracks. To advance to the next track, an employee must provide the Superintendent with written notice of such anticipated advancement on or before December 1st of the school year prior to September in which the employee seeks to advance.
- c. An Employee may request reimbursement for application costs required to obtain his/her initial National Board Certification. Such reimbursement shall not exceed one thousand five hundred (\$1,500), shall be paid from the tuition reimbursement fund in Section a. of this Article 6.01, and is subject to the tuition reimbursement fund maximum per contract year.

An Employee seeking reimbursement for initial National Board Certification under section c. must meet the following requirements.

- (i) An Employee applying for reimbursement pursuant to Section c. must have been employed by the Andover Public Schools in a Unit A position for a minimum of one (1) year prior to applying for reimbursement and must be employed by the Andover Public Schools at the time of reimbursement.
- (ii) An Employee must obtain prior written approval from the Superintendent or her/his designee prior to applying for National Board Certification.
- (iii) An Employee must submit a written application for reimbursement with a copy of the Employee's initial National Board Certification to the Superintendent or her/his designee.
- d. No employee is eligible for reimbursement under Section a. and/or Section b. of this Article 6-01 exceeding one thousand five hundred dollars (\$1,500) per contract year.

6-02 <u>Horizontal Salary Adjustments</u>

- a. Salaries will be adjusted in September and February for staff members who accumulate enough credits to move up one (1) or more tracks.
- b. Evidence of completion of credits must be submitted to the Director of Human Resources by September 1 and February 1 for the change to be effected.
- c. Intent to change tracks must be submitted by December 1 of the school year prior to the change.
- 6-03 Any unusual cases will be decided by the School Committee on the recommendation of the Superintendent.

Reimbursement for such courses shall be made in April, July, or October.

- 6-04 The "semester hour" is described as follows:
- a. The term "30" represents an amount of graduate level study past the Master's degree equivalent to the amount required to obtain a Master's degree at the institution granting the graduate study credits; at least a minimum grade of "B" based on the total

hours is required. If credit hours from different institutions are utilized, they must be normalized depending on the credit system employed by the institution granting the graduate credit.

- b. The term "60" represents an amount of graduate level study past the Master's Degree equivalent to twice the amount required to obtain a Master's degree at the institution granting the graduate study credit; a "B" average based on the total hours is required.
- c. The term "hour" shall represent 1/30th of the amount of work required to obtain a Master's Degree as indicated in "a" above.
- d. The definition of "hour" may be modified by the School Committee in special cases which are not covered by this Article.

ARTICLE 7

Teacher Year, Day, Load

7-01

- a. The work year of teachers will begin no earlier than September 1 and terminate no later than June 30, but will in no event be more than four (4) days more than the number of days when pupils are required to be in attendance by state law. The "teacher year" will include days when pupils are in attendance, orientation days at the beginning of the school year, conference days, and any other days when teacher attendance is required. The parties reserve their right to bargain on the subject for future years.
- b. Each High School guidance counselor may be required to work up to and including five (5) additional work days beyond the normal work year in Article 7-01 a. at the discretion of the high school principal.
- c. Each Educational Team Facilitator (ETF) may be required to work up to ten (10) additional work days beyond the normal work year in Article 7-01 at the discretion of the Director of Student Services.
- 7-02 The Committee will consult with the Association regarding the calendar for the following year by May 1. After such consultation, the Committee will prepare the calendar and will again consult with the Association before final approval. The

calendar for the following year will be posted before the end of the teacher year. The final decision regarding the calendar will be made by the Committee.

7-03

- a. Teachers may be required to report fifteen (15) minutes before student starting time.
- b. Teachers may be required to remain thirty (30) minutes after student dismissal time.
 - c. Teachers will provide adequate time for extra-help sessions for students.
- d. Teachers will provide adequate time for parent-teacher conferences. Such time will not exceed the past practice of the last three (3) schools years.
- e. Teachers may be required to participate in other professional activities for a time not to exceed six (6) hours in any month. Reasonable effort will be made to give all teachers affected at least forty-eight (48) hours notice regarding the scheduling or rescheduling of this time. Under normal circumstances, the time shall be scheduled contiguous to the regular workday. The parties agree that the second high school open house will be included as part of the six (6) hour requirement. The high school principal will consult with the Union on the scheduling of the remaining four (4) hours for that month.
 - 7-04 The starting and dismissal times for students shall be as follows:

Elementary Schools 8:45 A.M. - 3:00 P.M.

Middle Schools 7:45 A.M. - 2:05 P.M.

Senior High Schools* 7:45 A.M. - 2:05 P.M.

(*Upon the implementation of the new High School Schedule, student starting time at the Senior High School will be 7:44 A. M.)

Starting times may be varied by the School Committee, but the length of the pupil day will not be increased.

7-05 Teachers will have a duty-free lunch period of the following length:

Elementary Schools 35 Minutes

Middle Schools 30 Minutes

Senior High Schools 30 Minutes

Nurses 30 Minutes

7-06 Effective September 1, 2012, teachers in grades 6-8 will, in addition to their lunch period, be scheduled for 225 minutes of preparation time during a five day work week. During this preparation time, teachers shall not be assigned to duties. Where possible, preparation time shall be scheduled so that no time period is less than thirty (30) minutes duration.

Recognizing the importance of common team planning time to the functioning of the middle school model, middle school academic subject area teachers who are part of an academic core team will be scheduled for 225 minutes of common team planning in a five day work week. Foreign Language, Integrated Arts, and Physical Education teachers will be scheduled for 90 minutes of team planning time per five day week. Where possible, team planning time shall be scheduled so that no time period is less than thirty (30) minutes duration.

- 7-07 In addition to lunch and duty-free recess time, each elementary teacher shall have at least two-hundred-seventy (270) minutes of preparation time per week. Where possible, preparation time shall be scheduled so that no time period is less than thirty (30) minutes duration.
- 7-08 The parties shall establish a Study Committee to study the issue of common planning time for elementary classroom teachers. The Association shall designate three (3) members of the Study Committee and the School Committee shall designate three (3) members of the Study Committee.
- 7-09 There will be a fifteen (15) minute recess each day in the elementary schools. Except on days when inclement weather causes indoor recess, each elementary teacher will be free of duties during this recess.

Teacher Load

- 7-10 No teacher shall be asked to substitute for another except in case of emergency. An emergency is understood to be no more than one (1) day in duration.
- 7-11 Middle school teachers: Core academic teachers (English language arts, math, science, and social studies and team-based Special Education teachers assigned to one or more Teams) in the Middle School shall have 1300 minutes per 5-day week of student contact time. Integrated arts teachers (art, music, health, and engineering) physical education teachers and world language teachers in the Middle School shall have 1435 minutes of student contact time per 5-day week. Student contact time includes teaching time, home room, duties, and necessary passing time. Teaching minutes will be scheduled so that no time period is less than 30 minutes in duration in a full school day.
- 7-12 High school and middle school teachers will not be required to teach in more than two (2) subject areas. The number of preparations within each department shall be equitably distributed within each department.
- 7-13 Teacher-pupil ratios will be determined by the type of program, frequency of meetings, and the purpose of the instructional unit. The ratios will be a departmental or team consideration in the high school, and middle schools, and a primary or intermediate grade consideration in the elementary schools. In each case where the individual student-teacher ratio represents excessive responsibilities, assistance will be provided.

When a disagreement exists about whether such responsibilities are or are not excessive, the grievance procedures will be followed to settle the disagreement.

7-14 * Upon the implementation of the new Senior High School schedule, the following language will be in effect.

A. Definitions

1. "Instructional Day" means the period each day during which students are required to attend school, starting with the time at which students must be present and ending with the time of student dismissal excluding reasonable passing time and teacher's lunch.

- 2. "Schedule Cycle" means the eight (8) days it takes to complete one full student schedule rotation. Schedule Cycles need not be contiguous. Cycles can be interrupted to allow for days dedicated to extended learning communities and for experiential and project-based learning opportunities provided such days and activities have been scheduled, except in extraordinary circumstances, prior to the start o the academic year.
- 3. "Student Learning Community" means distributed advising to a cohort of students that is expressly used for academic-related remedial and enrichment opportunities for students, the administration of social-emotional and guidance curricula, group assemblies, the supervision of independent studies, senior exhibitions, community service projects, and other similar activities.
- 4. "Professional Learning Community" means a non-teaching period of professional collaboration during which teachers will be scheduled to cohorts facilitated by teachers and administrators. The time will be utilized to engage teachers in school improvement initiatives, curriculum development, or other professional activities.

B. High School Work Day

A Schedule Cycle will include the following:

- Over the course of a cycle, an average of 75% of a teacher's instructional day will be designated to teaching assignments. These teaching assignments will include class time and time a teacher is assigned to Student Learning Community periods.
- 2. Over the course of a cycle, no teacher will be required to teach more than five (5) course sections and an additional section of Student Learning Community.
- 3. No teacher will be required to teach more than four (4) periods in a day which can include the Student Learning Community period.
- 4. Teachers will be scheduled for one prep period a day that is no fewer than 60 minutes.
- 5. No less than 5% of a teacher's Schedule Cycle will be devoted to a professional learning community.

Specialists

- 8-01 The following specialists may be required to teach in their specialty in the classroom the equivalent of one (1) day per week: instructional specialists, speech and hearing, media librarians, health educators, and guidance counselors.
- 8-02 The learning specialists shall receive a differential of \$3879.*
 *(Those employed for the 2001-2002 School year and after are not eligible for this stipend/differential)

The teachers of the self-contained substantially separate classrooms for the emotionally disturbed, developmentally delayed, physically handicapped and perceptually handicapped will be paid a salary differential of \$1086.00.

- 8-03 Certified specialists within the Special Needs Department who are designated as Education Team Facilitator and ESL liaison will receive a differential of \$2793 based upon the added responsibility connected with conducting and monitoring evaluations of students.
- 8-04 School Social Workers employed in this position before the 2001-2002 school year will receive a differential of \$2793 based upon added responsibility and time requirements.
- 8-05 The required work day for each guidance counselor, speech and hearing specialist and media librarian will be no longer than that of teachers. However, their schedule may vary from that of teachers.

ARTICLE 9

Interschool and Professional Leave Travel

- 9-01 Classroom teachers and specialists assigned to more than one (1) building will be given adequate time for travel between schools. In arranging schedules for such personnel, an effort will be made to limit all interschool travel.
- 9-02 No person required to travel shall utilize either his preparation or lunch time for such travel.

- 9-03 Personnel who are assigned to more than one (1) school will receive mileage reimbursement in accordance with current IRS reimbursement regulations.
- 9-04 Professional leave mileage shall be reimbursed at the I.R.S. rate per mile subject to the submission of an expense voucher.

Resignations

- 10-01 The Andover School District contracts with professional personnel on a yearly basis, by virtue of the salary agreement. When it is known by an employee that he or she will not be able to complete the salary year, the employee is obligated to notify the Superintendent.
- 10-02 The termination day of employment is to be mutually determined by the Superintendent and the resigning teacher. If, after discussion, mutual agreement is not reached, the termination day of employment will be decided by the Superintendent.
- 10-03 No resignation will be accepted during the school year to take effect prior to the end of the school year except for reasons of illness, pregnancy, other justifiable cause as approved by the Superintendent.
- 10-04 Replacement for individuals resigning because of pregnancy may be at any time after official notification of the Superintendent. Notification of resignation because of pregnancy shall be given as soon as feasible.
- 10-05 No resignation is to become effective until thirty (30) days after its receipt by the Superintendent of Schools unless such requirement is waived by the School Committee.
- 10-06 No resignation shall be submitted subsequent to August 1, to take effect prior to the end of the ensuing school year except as provided in "03" of this Article. The School Committee may request the Association to take appropriate action against such member in accordance with their constitution and the School Committee may take appropriate action.

Assignments and Transfers

11-01 In order to ensure that pupils are taught by teachers working within the areas of their competence, teachers shall not be assigned, except in accordance with the regulations of the State Board of Education, to subjects and/or grades or other classes outside the scope of their teaching certificates and/or their major or minor fields of study.

11-02 <u>Voluntary Transfers</u>

- a. Teachers who desire a change in grade and/or subject assignments or who wish to transfer to another building shall file a written statement of such desire with the Superintendent not later than March 1, unless the position in which the teacher is interested becomes vacant subsequent to March 1. In the latter case, the statement must be filed within ten (10) school days of the vacancy.
- b. If the statement is filed by March 1, the Superintendent shall notify the teacher as to the disposition of the request no later than June 15. If the statement is filed after March 1, the Superintendent shall notify the teacher by June 15 if practicable and, if not, as soon thereafter as practicable, but in no event after August 1.

11-03 <u>Involuntary Transfers</u>

- a. If a teacher is to be transferred involuntarily, notice of the intent to transfer shall be given in writing. Said notice shall include the reasons for transfer.
- b. Notice of intent to transfer shall be given by June 15, unless a later notice is necessary because of unanticipated changes in enrollment or resignations. In no event shall such transfer be implemented after the first full week of the school year.
- c. The teacher who has received notice of intent of transfer, if he/she so requests, shall be granted a conference with the Superintendent (or his/her designee) and the Principal(s) involved. The teacher may be accompanied by an Association representative.
- d. Said conference must be requested by the teacher within five (5) school days of the receipt of notice of intent to transfer, and said conference must be held within five

- (5) school days of receipt of the request. Final disposition must be given in writing within five (5) school days of the conference.
- e. A teacher with a schedule split between two (2) schools may have that schedule reassigned to another qualified member of the department by submitting a written request for a change to the Superintendent no later than April 1.
- 11-04 If the need to transfer occurs after June 15, but before the end of the school year:
 - a. Notice of intent to transfer shall be given as soon as possible.
- b. The conference provided in 11-03 shall take place before the end of the school year.
- c. The teacher shall be given disposition in writing within five (5) days of the conference.
 - 11-05 If the need to transfer occurs during the summer:
- a. Notice of intent to transfer shall be sent by certified mail to the summer address of the teacher with a copy to the President of the Association.
- b. The teacher shall contact the Superintendent or his/her designee within five (5) days of receipt of the notice.
 - c. The conference provided in 11-03 shall take place within ten (10) days.
- d. The teacher will be given disposition in writing within five (5) days of the conference.

Non-Teaching Duties

12-01 The Committee and the Association acknowledge that a teacher's primary responsibility is to teach and that his/her energies should be utilized to that end, and that teachers will not be required to carry out a non-professional assignment. Collecting money from students for non-educational purposes will be kept to a

minimum. Elementary teachers will not be required to distribute milk or supervise cafeterias. Teachers will not be required to do custodial duties.

ARTICLE 13

Deviations from Salary Schedule

- 13-01 There will be no deviation from the agreed salary policy as outlined for regularly elected personnel except as follows:
- a. Permanent substitutes who after ten (10) consecutive days of substitute services in the system, as for long-term service (to finish a school year), shall be paid at a daily rate computed at the Bachelor's minimum as shown in Appendix A.
- b. For marginal performance of duties, personnel whose performance of duties is evaluated as below average shall be notified in writing ninety (90) days prior to the re-election date. The staff member will be allowed an appearance before the Superintendent before the deviation becomes final.
- c. If it is adjudged necessary for any personnel affected by this salary policy to have pay withheld, such a loss of pay shall be computed as follows:

School Year Personnel - loss of pay shall be computed on a daily rate

from the formula of annual salary divided by the number of days in session since salaries are

based upon the school year.

Other - in the case of personnel receiving extra-duty

compensation, loss will be computed on the part of the salary for the duty which has not

been completely fulfilled.

ARTICLE 14

General

14-01 There shall be no discrimination against any staff member for participation in Association activities.

- 14-02 The hiring, assignments, and transfers of personnel covered by this contract will be made without regard to race, creed, color, religion, nationality, age, gender, or marital status.
- 14-03 Guidance counselors and administrators shall not be excluded from consideration for extracurricular positions. The Superintendent will give preference to qualified Andover school employees in filling coaching and extracurricular positions.
 - 14-04 The Committee will provide the Association with:
- a. Twenty-five (25) copies of the current handbook of policies and regulations of the Committee.
 - b. Twenty-five (25) copies of new or revised pages.
 - c. Notification of any pages to be deleted.
- 14-05 In scheduling after-school activities, the Superintendent's office will, except in cases of emergency or where compelling and overriding circumstances otherwise require, leave Thursday afternoon free of activities so that the Association may schedule activities for that afternoon.
- 14-06 On the first Tuesday of October, January, and March (or such other dates as may be determined by mutual agreement), a committee comprised of no more than three (3) members of the Association will meet with the Superintendent and up to two (2) other members of the administration chosen by the Superintendent. These meetings will be for the purpose of discussing matters of mutual concern. These meetings are not for the purpose of bargaining. Either the Association or the Superintendent may invite the Committee to send a representative(s) to the meeting.

Sick Leave

- 15-01 Sick leave shall be fifteen (15) days per year with accumulation up to one hundred eight (180) days.
- 15-02 Five (5) of these days per year may be used for professional personnel (a) if his or her absence is required in order to attend an ill spouse, child, or parent; or (b) to observe religious holidays.

The Superintendent or his/her designee may authorize up to an additional seven (7) days of leave, to be deducted from the Employee's accrued sick leave, for extraordinary circumstances requiring the Employee to attend to an ill spouse, child or parent.

- 15-03 A medical certificate, signed by a duly licensed physician, may be required for all absences exceeding five (5) consecutive school days.
- 15-04 Suspected cases of sick leave abuse shall be submitted to the Sick Leave Bank Board. The Board shall conduct an independent investigation which shall include allowing the affected individual, after being told the facts of the case, to appear before it to present facts and information on his/her behalf.
- 15-05 A Board consisting of a Chairperson appointed by the Association, two (2) other members chosen by the Association, and three (3) representatives chosen by the Committee will oversee the operation of a sick leave bank operating under the following conditions:
- a. Assistance is aimed at those individuals who have long-term terminal, mental, or accidental illness which results in the exhaustion of accumulated sick leave.
- b. Initial funding of the bank will be at the rate of one (1) day per teacher; the total annual sick leave will be reduced from fifteen (15) to fourteen (14) days for the first year.
 - c. Individual petitions will be presented to the Board by interested parties.
- d. The maximum number of bank days granted to an individual will not exceed fifty (50) days after which a new petition must be presented and updated.
- e. When the sick bank falls below two-hundred fifty (250) days accumulations, each teacher will then contribute one (1) more day, to be deducted from his yearly sick day credit.
- f. In the event the bank is depleted, additional bank days will be funded on a voluntary basis, not to exceed one additional day per person.
- g. Petitioner or his/her representative must present pertinent medical data and proof of illness. A response to any petitioner will be forwarded within two (2) weeks.

- h. All decisions by the Sick Leave Bank Board will be by a simple majority vote.
- i. All petitions are to be held in strict confidence within the confines of the Sick Leave Bank Board only. All committee decisions are final, subject to one (1) appeal by the petitioner.
- j. The Board will review any case of sick bank abuse, and after proper investigation, may require the individual to submit a medical examination or proof of illness from medical experts.

Cost of said examination will be borne equally by the A.E.A. and the School Committee. The Board will have the right to censor any individual who has abused the sick leave bank and report it to the Andover School Committee for subsequent action.

ARTICLE 16

Experience Allowed

- 16-01 Professional personnel in Unit A entering or re-entering the Andover system will be placed upon a track and level consistent with their degree and experience as evaluated by the Superintendent or his/her designee but in no case on a track or level higher than that indicated by his/her degree or experience.
- 16-02 If such personnel begin teaching before official appointment by the Andover School District, they will, upon appointment, be paid retroactively to the first day at the appropriate step and on the appropriate track as recommended by the Superintendent.
- 16-03 Full credit as experience shall be given for each year of required service in the United States Armed Forces up to a maximum of three (3) years. For the purpose of this section, one (1) year will be considered as nine (9) to twenty (20) months service, two (2) years as twenty-one (21) to thirty-two (32) months of service, and three (3) years as thirty-three (33) months or more service.

Health Insurance

- 17-01 The Town of Andover will pay the maximum amount of premium allowed under Chapter 32B of the General Laws of Massachusetts as of December 1, 1967.
- 17-02 Bargaining unit members shall be eligible to participate in the contributory benefit plan.

ARTICLE 18

Professional Leave

- 18-01 The Superintendent may grant members leave of absence with pay for the purpose of attending educational conventions, professional meetings, training institutes, and other activities which have a demonstrable relationship to the improvement of professional skill, subject to budget limitations.
- 18-02 Written request for such leave must be filed with the person's building principal or director at least ten (10) schools days in advance. Exceptions may be made where notice of the activity was not received more than ten (10) school days in advance.
- 18-03 The Superintendent may direct members to take such leave for the purposes and in the conditions outlined under "01". Directed leave shall be at the expense of the School Department, but members shall submit detailed expense vouchers to the Superintendent at the conclusion of such leave.
- 18-04 The Superintendent will notify ten (10) school days in advance of his/her intent to implement the provisions of "03" and will provide with such notice detailed information respecting such implementation.
- 18-05 Teachers on Professional Leave shall file a written report with the Superintendent within ten (10) school days of return.
- 18-06 Personnel may be reimbursed for tuition at non-credit workshops or institutes in subject fields at the rate of one (1) every three (3) years upon previous approval of the Superintendent.

18-07 Grievances under this Article may be instituted at Level 3 of the Grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 19

Personal Leave

- 19-01 Each member of the professional staff may have two (2) days per year, noncumulative, and exclusive of leave for death in the family, for the purpose of transacting or attending imperative legal business, household or family matters which require the absence of the member during school hours and which cannot otherwise be scheduled.
- 19-02 Written notice of intention to take this leave shall be filed with the person's immediate supervisor or principal, and forwarded to the Superintendent at least one (1) week in advance with the reason for taking such leave. Exceptions to the application of this provision may be made where the one (1) week advance notice would be either a hardship or impossibility.
- 19-03 Availability of this leave shall be limited to 5% of the total teaching personnel in any one (1) school in any one (1) day.
- 19-04 Grievances under this article may be instituted at Level 3 of the Grievance Procedure.
- 19-05 The Association agrees to work with the administration in discussing the alleged improper use of personal leave days surrounding school vacations and holidays.

ARTICLE 20

Extended Leaves of Absence

20-01 Up to three (3) members designated by the Association shall, upon request, be granted leaves of absence of one (1) or two (2) school years without pay or increment for the purpose of engaging in the activities of the National Education Association, or any of its national, state, or local affiliates. Any member desiring leave shall apply to the Superintendent by February 1, prior to the beginning date of

proposed leave. No leave under this section shall be granted after the start of the next school year.

- 20-02 Sabbatical leave for approved full-time study, as for other approved educational activities may be allowed for bargaining unit members who have taught in Andover for at least five (5) years. Such leave may be granted for one (1) year or one-half (1/2) year at one-half (1/2) pay for the period of absence regardless of any scholarship awards.
- 20-03 Working sabbatical leaves for research and advanced study may be allowed for unit members who have taught in Andover for at least five (5) years. Such leaves shall be at full pay if the member works the equivalent of a half-time teaching schedule. A member who does not fulfill the teaching requirement shall reimburse the Town pro-rata for the time at half salary.
- 20-04 Up to three (3) and no more than two (2) sabbatical leaves of either type delineated in 20-01 or 20-02 may be allowed. The Committee, in its discretion, may grant additional leaves and may grant internal sabbatical leaves to bargaining unit members. Sabbatical leaves of absence covered in Section 20-02 and 20-03 shall be governed by the following rules:
- (1) A preliminary request and plan for the use of such leave shall be presented to the School Committee by the preceding November 1, final request by the following April 30th.
- (2) A written report concerning the manner in which the leave was used may be required by the School Committee upon completion of the sabbatical leave.
- (3) Any personnel granted a sabbatical leave shall contract with the School Committee that upon termination of such leave, he/she will return to service in the Andover School System for a period equal to twice the length of the leave.
- (4) Upon return from such leave, said person shall be placed on the salary schedule at the level which he/she would have achieved had he/she remained actively employed in the system during the period of his/her absence.
- (5) Upon return from such leave, said person shall be returned to the same position which he/she held at the time said leave commenced, if available or, if not, to an equivalent position.

- (6) A second or third such leave shall not be authorized until such personnel shall re-establish eligibility by serving another period of five (5) years in the Andover School System.
- 20-05 A teacher who has served for more than three (3) years as a teacher in Andover may be granted his/her request of leave of absence without pay for up to one (1) school year; provided that the teacher notifies the Committee in writing of his/her intent to do so by March 15 preceding the school year of the leave. This leave is not intended to provide a teacher with an opportunity to follow a spouse to another job location or to hold a job open while the teacher takes another job or to hold a job open if the teacher has no intention to return.
- a. A teacher, upon return, shall be returned to his/her former position, if possible, or, if not, to a similar position. Provided, however, nothing contained herein shall prevent the Committee from laying off a teacher pursuant to Article 27 of this Agreement.
 - b. Leaves under this provision shall not exceed eight (8) in any school year.
- c. Requests for leaves under this provision shall not be denied without just cause. If the number of people already on leave within the applicant's teaching area makes the granting of a leave under this provision educationally unsound, the standard of just cause for denial shall have been met.
- d. Teachers on such leaves must notify the Superintendent of their intent to return no later than March 15 of the year preceding the school year of return. If the Superintendent notifies the teacher and the Association by registered mail to the teacher's last address on file of the March 15th deadline at least two (2) weeks in advance, then failure to respond can result in forfeiture of the teacher's position. Should the Superintendent send written notice by certified mail to a teacher who has not complied with the March 15th deadline, the Superintendent will also notify the Association. The teacher must respond within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the notice.
- e. The Association agrees to assist the Administration in locating teachers on leaves of absence and verifying their actual anticipated dates of return.
- 20-04 Leaves in excess of 90 work days granted pursuant to this Article and Article 21 shall not exceed more than two (2) in a four (4) year period.

Childbearing and Child Rearing Leave

- 21-01 Childbearing Leave Pursuant to Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 149, Section 105D, every female employee who has completed the initial probationary period of ninety (90) days is entitled to at least eight (8) weeks for the purpose of giving birth, provided she gives at least two (2) weeks; notice of her expected departure and return dates.
- a. An employee intending to take a leave of absence under 21.01 and who wishes to be eligible for childbearing leave shall notify the Superintendent of her approximate date of leave commencement and whether or not she anticipates taking a child rearing leave at least four (4) weeks prior to the anticipated commencement of the leave. Teachers are urged to give earlier notification thus providing the Administration with additional time to secure a replacement and insure continuity of instruction.
- b. The pregnant teacher may continue in her assigned position as long as her physical condition and ability to perform her assigned duties allow. The Superintendent may require medical evidence of the teacher's ability to continue to work in the same manner that it may require when questioning the health of a teacher in a non-maternity related situation.
- c. During disability periods due to pregnancy or childbirth a teacher, upon a timely request for sick leave, is eligible to use sick leave pursuant to Article 15.
- d. The teacher, upon completion of childbearing leave, shall be restored to the position she held when her leave commenced or a substantially equivalent position.
- 21-02 Child Rearing Leave Timely with the birth or adoption of a child or upon completion of a childbearing leave, a teacher shall be entitled to a child rearing leave of up to two (2) years, provided the teacher gives written notice at least eight (8) weeks in advance of the leave or adoption. Only one (1) parent shall be eligible for such leave from the Andover School System for the birth or adoption of a child.
- a. A teacher on child rearing leave shall return to work at the beginning of a school year or at the semester break half-way through the year.

- b. The anticipated return date shall be included in the application for such leave. Prior to April 1 of each year the Association shall, if requested by the Superintendent, aid in determining whether a teacher is going to return the following year to the Andover School System.
- c. Leave taken pursuant to this Article must be consecutive and unpaid and the return to full-time employment shall constitute a termination of child rearing leave.
- d. In determining the placement on the salary schedule of a teacher who returns from a child rearing leave of absence, credit for full year teaching will be given on the schedule for the school year during which the leave began provided the teacher completed at least ninety-two (92) school days of teaching during said school year; otherwise, the teacher shall return to the step on the salary schedule which she held prior to the commencement of such leave.
- 21-03 The teacher shall be restored as soon as practicable to the position she held when her leave began, or to a substantially equivalent position. Provided, however, nothing contained herein shall prevent the Andover School District from laying off a teacher on child rearing leave pursuant to Article 27 of this Agreement.
 - Members who have been employed for one complete year and have worked a minimum of 1, 250 hours over the past year, shall be entitled to a leave of absence without pay for up to 12 consecutive weeks for adoption, foster care placement of a child or parent or if a serious health condition effects the member's spouse, child or parent in accordance with the Family and Medical Leave Act and the District's policy. Time spent on childbearing and child rearing leave pursuant to Articles 21-01 and 21-02 of this Agreement will be included in the computation of said twelve week period.

<u>**Iury Leave</u>**</u>

- 22-01 A teacher who is called for jury duty will receive jury pay in an amount equal to the difference between his/her base salary and jury service fee. The teacher must furnish evidence satisfactory to the Superintendent that he/she has performed jury duty and must specify the amount of compensation he/she received for jury duty on days for which payment is claimed.
- 22-02 Jury pay will not be granted if jury service is performed while the teacher is on a previously authorized leave of absence or layoff.

Death in Family

- 23-01 In the event of a death in the immediate family of a teacher, he/she will be granted leave with pay on the day of the funeral if it is a workday, two (2) additional workdays falling between the day of death and the day of the funeral, and the two (2) days immediately following the funeral if they are workdays. "Immediate family" of a teacher is defined as spouse, children, parent, sibling, or any member of the teacher's household.
- 23-02 In the event of the death of parent-in-law, grandparents, or any member of the teacher's household, the teacher will be granted leave with pay on the day of the funeral if it is a workday and two (2) additional workdays falling between the day of death and the day of the funeral.
- 23-03 In the event of the death of aunts, uncles, nieces, or nephews, the teacher will be granted leave with pay on the day of the funeral if the teacher attends the funeral.

ARTICLE₂₄

<u>Unclassified Absences</u>

- 24-01 Teacher absence for reasons other than those stated will be penalized by a loss of pay in the ratio established in Article 13.
- 24-02 School employees must notify the building principal or designee of his/her intention to leave the school during unassigned time between the beginning of classes and the end of school for educational purposes and must have the authorization of the building principal or designee to leave for non-educational purposes.

ARTICLE 25

Protection

25-01 Members will report to the Superintendent within five (5) days and in writing all cases of abusive conduct and/or torts suffered by them in connection with their employment together with the names of witnesses and all people involved.

Members will similarly report any instances of damage done by students to automobiles while on school property.

- 25-02 The Superintendent will forward to the Committee and the Administrator involved a duplicate of the report.
- 25-03 The Committee agrees to furnish the member any documented information in its possession relating to the incident.
- 25-04 The Administration will take appropriate disciplinary action against the students responsible for abusive conduct, torts, or damage to automobiles.
- 25-05 The Committee will provide indemnification for teachers to the extent required by law.

ARTICLE 26

Teacher Rights

26-01 The parties agree that there shall be no reprisals against any teacher by reason of his/her membership or lawful participation in any activities of the Association or its affiliates or his/her institution of any grievance, complaint, or proceeding under this agreement or statute or Federal Law.

26-02 Grade Change

- a. In grading students, teachers shall adhere to written grade policies adopted by the school system. Before establishing or changing grading policies, the Committee shall meet and discuss the proposed changes with the Association.
- b. A parent or a student (if 18 years of age or older) may challenge the grade the teacher has given a student subject to the following procedures and conditions:
- 1. The person making the challenge shall state in writing the grade being challenged and the specific reasons for challenging that grade. The written challenge shall be given to the principal and the teacher.
- 2. The person making the challenge shall first discuss the matter with the teacher grading the student.

- 3. If the challenging party is not satisfied, then the matter shall be referred to the Principal, who shall convene a meeting within fourteen (14) days of the receipt of a written appeal of the grade.
- c. A teacher's grade may be changed if the grade was calculated in error or the grading was inconsistent with written grading policies. The teachers subjective and/or objective judgment in determining a grade shall not be challenged unless it is established that the teacher acted in bad faith or in an arbitrary and capricious manner in establishing the grade. Other than the teacher, only the Principal shall have the power to change a grade and then only if the teacher is in violation of this Article.
- d. The teacher shall have the right to be present at any meeting regarding changing a grade, may be represented by the Association and shall have the right to appeal any grade change to arbitration pursuant to this Agreement.

26-03 Rights on Non-Tenured Personnel

- a. The election of personnel shall take place prior to June 15.
- b. A teacher without professional status shall be notified in writing on or before May 15 whenever such teacher is not to be employed for the following school year. The written statement will include the reasons as to the grounds for the non-renewal.
- c. The Superintendent shall, upon request, allow one personal appearance by an individual to present his case. Such request shall be made in writing to the Superintendent within ten (10) school days from the date of receipt of the notice of the non-renewal. The Superintendent shall hold the hearing within fifteen (15) days of the request.
- d. The Superintendent shall notify the individual in writing of his/her final decision within five (5) days of the date of such appearance.
- 26-04 Whenever any teacher is required to appear before the School Committee, the Superintendent or his/her designee, or any committee member or agent thereof concerning any matter which could adversely affect the continuation of that teacher in his/her office or position, employment, salary or increments, he/she shall be given prior written notice of the reasons for such meeting or interview and shall be entitled to have an agent or representative of the Association present to advise him/her and represent him/her during such meeting or interview.

- 26-05 Teachers have the right to examine their personnel files and to make copies of such contents and records as concern their work or themselves.
- 26-06 No teacher shall be suspended or dismissed without just cause. No teacher shall be reduced in rank or compensation (except through non-renewal) without just cause. This just cause provision shall not apply to the non-renewal of non-tenured teachers.
- 26-07 The Committee agrees that the Program Advisors will not have the authority to discharge, suspend, or issue written reprimands. Statements in an observation and/or evaluation document shall not be considered, for the purposes of the aforementioned restriction, a written reprimand.

Reduction in Force

27-01 Should declining enrollment and/or other budgetary reasons result in the layoff of teachers with professional status, such reduction shall be accomplished consistent with statutory requirements and this Agreement with the following procedures:

Definitions:

Seniority - Length of continuous service in the bargaining unit measured from the first day for which compensation was received. Time spent on unpaid leaves of absence shall not be counted toward seniority, but shall not constitute a break in continuous service. Individuals who have prior teaching experience in the Andover Schools, and move directly into a position in the Administrator's bargaining unit, shall retain their seniority in the teachers' bargaining unit for a period of three (3) years measured from the date of appointment to the administrators' unit. Said individuals shall not continue to accrue seniority for time served outside of the teachers' bargaining unit.

Seniority List - A ranking of teachers, by department, based upon seniority from the senior most to the junior most teachers. The list shall include the date from which seniority is measured and the teacher's area of certification. An updated seniority list will be given to the Association no later than November 1 of each school year. The list will be posted in each school building and any teacher wishing to challenge the accuracy of his/her position on the seniority list, regarding certifications or date of

employment, shall have thirty (30) calendar days to file a written appeal to the Association and the Superintendent. If a dispute still remains regarding a teacher's seniority placement after the Association and the Superintendent have met to resolve the issue, the matter shall be submitted to arbitration and heard by arbitrator within thirty (30) days of his/her appointment. The arbitrator shall issue a decision no later than ten (10) days after the arbitration hearing.

Department

<u>Secondary Teachers</u> - Foreign Languages, Mathematics, English, Science, Social Studies, Guidance and Health.

<u>Pre K-12 Specialists</u> - Art, Music, Physical Education, Digital Learning Specialist,, Media Librarian, English Language Learner (E.L.L.) Teacher, and Learning Specialists.

<u>Special Education</u> – Moderate and Severe Special Needs Teachers, School Social Workers, School Psychologists, Speech and Language Teachers.

<u>Elementary: preK-5</u> - If a teacher is teaching in more than one (1) department, he/she will be placed in the department where he/she spends the majority of his/her time.

<u>Recall Period</u> - The recall periods shall include the first and second school year, following the school year in which the layoff becomes effective, and the first day of school of the subsequent school year.

27-02 To the extent possible, natural attrition shall be used to reduce the positions.

27-03 If layoffs of teachers with professional status are then needed, no teacher with professional status shall be laid off if there is a teacher without professional teacher status whose position the teacher with professional status is currently certifiable to perform.

27-04 If further layoffs are needed, the layoffs shall be by department, following the seniority list, starting with the least senior teacher. Whenever the Superintendent reasonably believes that a junior employee within a department is the only qualified employee within said department, then said junior employee shall be retained and the next junior most employee shall be laid off.

Any disputes surrounding the interpretation of this section, must be submitted to the Committee no later than fourteen (14) calendar days following receipt of the layoff notification. The parties shall schedule an arbitration hearing no later than the third week in June, before one of the arbitrators designated in Section 27-01 to hear any disputes surrounding this section. The arbitrator shall issue his/her decision with ten (10) calendar days of the completion of the hearing.

- 27-05 If one (1) or more bargaining unit members have the same seniority date as defined in 27-01 Definitions, the following procedures shall be used to break the tie:
- a. Each affected member shall have the total time spent on unpaid leaves of absence subtracted from his/her seniority.
- b. If one (1) or more members remain tied after the application of Section 27-05a, members with the least amount of part-time service shall be senior.
- c. If the first two methods referred to above in Section (a) and (b) do not break the tie, the position on the seniority list shall be determined by a one-time lottery.
- 27-06 Teachers laid off pursuant to this Article shall be placed on a recall list and treated as a teacher on unpaid leave of absence for the duration of the recall period.
- 27-07 A professional teacher status teacher shall receive written notice of layoff no later than the May 15th preceding the layoff. Should a layoff occur during a school year, the teacher will be notified at least sixty (60) school days in advance of the layoff.
- 27-08 During the recall period stated above, a unit member will be eligible to remain in the group health and life insurance programs, of the Town of Andover, to the extent permitted by law, provided that the laid off employee pays the full premium amount.
- 27-09 Unit members on layoff shall be recalled in the reverse order of layoff to fill those vacancies which they are qualified to teach. A member who declines the recalled vacancy shall be moved to the bottom of the recall list. A certified letter sent to the last address on file at the Superintendent's Office shall constitute recall notice. Failure to reply in writing within thirty (30) days shall result in placement at the bottom of the recall list.

27-10 Unit members on layoff shall be contacted for any permanent substitute assignment. There will be no penalty should the member refuse less than a full school year's substitute position. Should a member accept a permanent substitute position, such member will be placed on the salary schedule at Bachelor's Step 1 of the Agreement. A member who continues in said position beyond twenty (20) consecutive days will be placed on the appropriate track and step according to his/her status prior to layoff and receive the salary to commensurate with such placement. The salary will be retroactive to the first day for which compensation was received as a substitute teacher. In addition to the appropriate salary placement after twenty (20 consecutive days of teaching, the member will also begin to accrue seniority retroactive to the first day for which compensation was received as a substitute teacher.

A person refusing a permanent substitute position for an entire school year shall be deemed to have refused a recall opportunity.

- 27-11 The Committee agrees to grant upon request two (2) unpaid one-year leaves of absence for the purpose of schedule which he/she held prior to the commencement of such leave.
- 27-12 The provisions of this Article shall not apply to the termination of an employee for any reason other than the reasons specified in Section 27.01 hereof.
- 27-13 The Committee agrees that in the event it establishes the Program Advisor positions, there will be no reduction in force of *professional teacher status* teachers as a result thereof during the 1997-1998 school year.

ARTICLE 28

Teacher Evaluation

- 28-01 Teachers shall be evaluated in accordance with provisions in Appendix D. Appendix D is hereby incorporated by reference as Article 28-01.
- 28-02 All monitoring or observation of the work of a teacher shall be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the teacher. The use of eavesdropping, closed-circuit television, public address of audio systems, and similar surveillance devices shall be strictly prohibited. Closed circuit television,

tape recorder or video tape machines may be used for evaluative purposes if the teacher and the evaluator mutually agree.

28-03 No teacher shall receive adverse comments orally from any supervisor in the presence of pupils.

28-04 All evaluations of teachers with professional teacher status resulting in adverse actions are subject to the just cause provisions as defined in Article 26-06. The opinions of the evaluator are not subject to arbitrable review.

Observation reports, themselves, are not grievable but are grievable as part of the final evaluation. Observation reports are timely grieved as part of the final evaluation. Other written documentation are timely grieved when they occur provided the requirements of Article 4 are met.

28-05 No material originating after employment shall be placed in a teacher's personnel file unless the teacher has had an opportunity to review the material. The teacher may submit a written notation regarding any material and the same shall be attached to the file copy of the material in question. If a teacher is asked to sign material placed in his/her file, such signature shall be understood to indicate his/her awareness of the material but in no instance shall said be interpreted to mean agreement with the content of the material.

28-06 In case of a complaint against a teacher made by any parent, student, or other person, no action shall be taken because of such complaint until the teacher first has the opportunity to present his/her case or viewpoint.

28-07 The Association recognizes the authority and responsibility of the administration for disciplining or reprimanding a teacher. Such action will be done privately, except as hereinafter provided. When a teacher is to be disciplined or reprimanded by any member of the administration for an incident of a nature sufficient to warrant a conference, the teacher, upon request, shall be entitled to have an Association representative present.

In the event that the substance or fact of the discipline or reprimand is to be placed in the teacher's file, it shall not be placed in the teacher's file until the teacher has had an opportunity to review the material and to attach to the material any pertinent comments he/she desires to make.

ARTICLE 29

Vacancies

- 29-01 All vacancies will be posted at a designated place in each school and a copy of said posting will be sent to the President of the Association at the same time. All professional vacancies will be posted within the school system before or as soon as they are posted outside the school system. The posting will be dated and the position will not be filled until ten (10) days after said date. The posting will include the requirements and/or job description.
- 29-02 If a vacancy occurs between the end of the school year and July 31, notice of such vacancy will be sent to the President of the Association (or to his/her designee). The posting will not be filled until ten (10) days after the mailing of the notice.
- 29-03 If a vacancy occurs between July 31 and August 30, notice of such vacancy will be sent by certified mail to the President of the Association (or to his/her designee) as soon as the Superintendent receives notice of said occurrence. Any position exclusive of that of classroom teacher will not be filled until ten (10) days after receipt of the notice.
- 29-04 Positions which are eliminated shall not be considered vacancies. If elimination of a position is contemplated and before final action is taken:
- a. The Association will be so notified. Wherever possible, this notification will be at least 30 days prior to the final action of the Andover School District.
- b. The person(s) occupying the position will be granted a personal appearance by the Superintendent and/or the Committee before final action is taken.
- 29-05 Members of the staff who apply for positions will:
- a. Receive notification of receipt of their application.
- b. Be granted an interview by the Superintendent (or his/her designee).
- c. Receive a written statement as to who filled the vacancy, as soon as possible after the position is filled.

ARTICLE 30

Curriculum Advisors, and Team Leaders

30-01 The salary schedule for Team Leader and Curriculum Advisor positions is as follows:

MS Team Leader (Core)	\$1.639

MS Team Leader (Integrated Arts) \$820

MS Curriculum Advisor \$1,639

Elementary Team Leader, Speech & Language Team Leader, and School Psychologists Team Leader System-wide:

•Team Less than 5	\$874
•Team 5 or More	\$1202
•Specialist Team	\$438

[•] When team members equal 9 or more, two teams will be created.

These positions shall be rotated annually among qualified applicants.

30-02 The parties agree that for the purpose of this Article that qualified means meeting the requirements stated in the job description and is not limited to meeting the licensure requirements.

ARTICLE 31

Assistants

- 31-01 The primary role of the assistant is to facilitate the work of the classroom teacher. At no time will an assistant take over the function of and/or in any way replace the classroom teacher.
- a. The assistant may assist students on an individual basis with seat-work activity under the direct supervision of the classroom teacher.
- b. The assistant may be asked to tutor a student or a portion of the regularly scheduled class under the direction of the teacher according to a specific lesson

designed by the supervising teacher in order to reinforce material already presented by the classroom teacher.

- c. The assistant may be asked to score objective assignments or tests. The assistant may tally the results but will not evaluate the results.
- d. The assistant may be asked to prepare media aids in connection with a particular lesson or project under the direct request and supervision of the supervising teacher.
- e. An assistant will not be scheduled for and/or have responsibility for a class of students or portion thereof except as otherwise provided herein.
- f. The assistant may be utilized to supervise a study hall or cafeteria, monitor the corridors, or undertake playground or bus duty.
- g. The assistant will not substitute for a teacher while the teacher is out of the classroom other than to act in a supervisory capacity.

ARTICLE 32

Pay Schedule

- 32-01 The first paycheck each school year shall coincide with the regular biweekly schedule for the Andover Public Schools. In those years where the pay period falls in the second work week, teachers will receive twenty-six (26) equal paychecks on alternate Thursdays. There will be no deductions taken from this first check except taxes and retirement. The remaining salary shall be paid in twenty-six (26) equal paychecks on alternate Thursdays.
- 32-02 A teacher who notifies the Superintendent in writing by the June 30th preceding the September of implementation shall receive his/her salary in twenty-one (21) payments in similar fashion to those receiving twenty-six (26) payments.

A teacher will continue to be paid in this pay schedule until such time as they notify the Superintendent in writing by the June 30th preceding the September he/she wishes the change.

- 32-03 Teachers shall be given the option of receiving the balance of their annual salary in a lump sum, payable on the last scheduled work day in June and after necessary duties have been completed.
- 32-04 The Andover teachers shall be eligible to have deductions made from their salaries and deposited in the Andover Federal Credit Union.

ARTICLE 33

Education of Dependent Children

- 33-01 Upon the recommendation of the Superintendent and the approval of the School Committee, a teacher in the Andover Public School System who is not a resident of Andover, will have the option of having his or her child(ren) attend the Andover Public Schools without charge for tuition.
- 33-02 A teacher may make an application for his or her child(ren) to attend the Andover Public Schools grades kindergarten through 12th grade. Applications must be submitted to the Superintendent no later than May 15.
- 33-03 If the number of new applications exceeds the number of available vacancies at any level, students will be selected by a lottery administered jointly by the Association and the Committee to ensure the choice of students on a non-discriminatory and random basis.
- 33-04 Attendance at the Andover Public Schools shall be contingent on budget and available student vacancies within the Andover Public Schools as determined by the Superintendent of Schools whose decision shall be final and not subject to any venue, including but not limited to the grievance and arbitration procedure. If the child of an employee is admitted, the employee is responsible for so notifying the School Committee of the community in which the child resides.
- 33-05 A waiver of tuition is an employee privilege, thus, a child may not continue to attend the Andover Public Schools if the teacher is no longer employed for any reason. In the event the employment relationship ends during the school year for any reason, the child shall be allowed to remain until the end of that semester.

33-06 Teachers should be aware of potential tax consequences of accepting this benefit.

ARTICLE 34

Longevity Pay

34-01 Longevity: Bargaining unit members shall be eligible for longevity payments as follows:

Unit members at 16 years of service in Andover as of 9/1/01

Starting the 16th year in Andover 1% Starting the 21st year in Andover 2% Starting the 26th year in Andover 3%

Unit members at 12-14 years of service in Andover as of 9/1/01

Starting the 16th year in Andover 1% Starting the 21st year in Andover 2%

Unit members with less than 12 years of service in Andover as of 9/1/01

Starting the 16th year in Andover \$ 300

Starting the 25th year in Andover \$1000

The percent will be of that unit member's base salary from the Teachers' Salary Schedule in Appendix A. The amount will be received as a lump sum payment the first pay period in December. A unit member who resigns before the year is completed is entitled to a pro rata portion of the longevity. If a unit member resigns after the December payment is made, that unit member's pay shall be adjusted to reflect a pro rata share of longevity.

A unit member who is in Tier 2 for evaluation shall not be eligible to receive longevity increments for the time that the member is in Tier 2.

ARTICLE 35

403b Benefit

35-01 The Committee agrees to make employee authorized deductions into a 403b commencing in the 2001-2002 academic year. The Committee will forward deductions to a 403b plan administrator designated by the Association.

Employee contributions shall be equal amounts using payroll deduction. The Committee will match the first \$150.

A unit member is eligible to receive the employer's matching contribution upon completion of one year's service in Andover.

*ARTICLE 36

*This article will be deleted in its entirety upon the implementation of the new High School Schedule.

<u>Time and Learning - General Concepts</u>

36-01 The Committee/Administration shall have the right to implement a high school schedule consistent with the following (hereinafter some called "extended block schedule"), anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding:

1. Extended Teaching Blocks

- a. Teaching blocks shall not exceed 90 minutes in length. It is expected that the length of the blocks shall be approximately 90, 60, or 45 minutes.
- b. The maximum number of 90 minute blocks that a teacher may be required to teach, in any one day, shall be three.
- c. The maximum number of minutes that a teacher may be required to teach in one day shall be 270.

2. <u>Duty Time</u>

The combination of required teaching time and duty time shall not exceed, in any one day, 270 minutes.

3. Planning Time

High school teachers teaching the extended block schedule will, in addition to their lunch period, have preparation time averaging, on a yearly basis, approximately 90 minutes per day.

- 4. The Parties agree that the Committee has satisfied its bargaining obligations with respect to implementation of a so called "3 by 3" teaching schedule effective with the start of the 2012-2013 work year.
- 5. <u>High School Schedule Committee</u>: The Parties agree to establish a high school scheduling committee with representatives from the Association, representatives from the Administration of the Andover Public Schools, and parent representatives from the school council of the high school. The Parties agree to engage a neutral facilitator to assist the scheduling committee, and the scheduling committee shall convene in February of 2013. Implementation of any new agreed upon schedule shall be at the beginning of a school year provided that such an agreement was reached on or before December 1st of the school year prior to implementation.
- 36-02 The Administration shall have the right to revert to the type of schedule in effect during the 1996-1997 school year or prior school years. In such case, the provisions of this article shall be of no further force and effect.
- 36-03 Effective the school year 2005-2006, the Committee/Administration shall have the right to replace up to 8 teaching positions in the following manner (The exercise of this right shall not result in the displacement of an existing bargaining unit member excluding the non-renewal of teachers without professional teacher status):
- 1. Up to 40 extended teaching blocks may be assigned under the following conditions:
 - (1) Bargaining unit members will be paid \$4,000 per extended teaching block per semester. The teaching block will be in lieu of the teacher's planning time referred to in subsection 3.
 - (2) The additional teaching blocks will be posted in accordance with Article 29.
 - (3) The principal will select from qualified applicants to fill available extended teaching block positions. First year teachers and teachers with less than three years' teaching experience will not be eligible for the extended teaching block program.

(4) If the principal determines that there are no qualified bargaining unit volunteers to fill the available extended block periods, the principal may hire qualified retirees to teach the extended blocks at the rate of \$4,000 per block. Preference will be given to teachers who have retired from the Andover Public Schools.

ARTICLE 37

Summer School

- 37-01 The principals of the Andover Schools will undertake the responsibility of expanding the Summer School planning in cooperation with the Principal of the Summer School. The operation and administration of the Summer School remain the responsibility of the principals, subject to the approval of the School Committee and the Superintendent. Such planning will be in the area of enrichment, remedial and experimental curriculum activities.
- 37-02 In staffing the summer school, the members of the Andover professional staff shall be hired when Andover applicants are of equal or superior ability.
- 37-03 Grievance under this Article may be initiated at Level 3 of the Grievance Resolution.
- 37-04 For salary ranges of Summer School personnel, see Appendix C.

ARTICLE 38

Nurses	N	ur	se	S
--------	---	----	----	---

- 38-01 The following provisions of the contract shall apply to School Nurses:
- Article 1 Scope
- Article 2 Conditions of Employment
- Article 3 <u>Dues, Deductions and Agency Service Fee and VOTE</u>
- Article 4 <u>Grievance Procedure</u>
- Article 5 Reopening
- Article 7 <u>Teacher Year, Day, Load</u> (Sections 7-01, 7-02, 7-03 (a) (b) (c) (d) (e), 7-04. Nurses will entitled to a thirty (30) minute lunch period to be taken at a time mutually agreed to by the nurse and the building principal.
- Article 9 <u>Interschool and Professional Leave Travel</u> (Sections 9-01 9-03, and 9-04) Section 9-02 "Except in an emergency situation, no person required to travel shall utilize her lunch time for such travel."
- Article 10 Resignations
- Article 11 Assignments and Transfers (Sections 11-01, 11-02, 11-04, 11-05) Section 11-03 will include subsections "a" and "b" (as amended in second sentence- "Notice of intent to transfer shall be given by June 15, unless a later notice is necessary because of unanticipated changes in enrollment or resignations."), "c" and "d".
- Article 13 Deviations from Salary Schedule
- Article 14 General
- Article 15 Sick Leave
- Article 17 <u>Health Insurance</u>
- Article 18 Professional Leave

Article 19	Personal Leave (19-01, 19-02, 19-03 revise as follows: "Availability of this leave shall be limited to one nurse on any one day". (19-04, 19-05)
Article 21	Childbearing and Child Rearing Leave
Article 22	Jury Leave
Article 23	Death in Family
Article 24	<u>Unclassified Absences</u>
Article 25	<u>Protection</u> 25-06 Liability Insurance: The Town of Andover will maintain primary professional liability insurance for all registered nurses employed in its schools. This coverage will be in force during the school day and during attendance of the registered nurse at all school-related functions.
Article 26	Teacher Rights (26-01, 26-03, 26-04, 26-05, 26-06)
Article 27	Reduction in Force: Nurses shall be recognized as included in "Department."
Article 29	<u>Vacancies</u>
Article 32	Pay Schedule (See 38-02)
Article 34	Longevity Pay (Except for grandfathered employee, S Taitz.)
Article 35	403b Benefit (Except for grandfathered employee, S Taitz.)
Article 39	Effect of Agreement
Article 40	Savings Clause
Appendix A	Nurses will be placed on the closest step on the bachelor's scale that will result in a salary increase. The placement on the scale is attached hereto

and incorporated by reference.

- Appendix B: Nurses may be employed as coaches and in intramural and afterschool activities on the same terms as other members of the bargaining unit provided that all such work occurs outside of the nurse's work day.
- 38-02 Effective the September 1, 2014 each nurse who has a Master's degree in nursing shall move from the Bachelor's track to the Master's track and shall be placed at the step on the Master's track with a salary that is closest to but not less than the salary amount such nurse would receive in the Bachelor's track. Nurses shall be limited to the Bachelor's track, the Master's track, and the Master's +30 track; the remaining tracks (Bachelor's +30, Master's +60, Master's +75 and Doctorate) shall not be applicable to nurses. To advance to the Master's track or the Master's + 30 track, a nurse must provide the Superintendent with written notice of such anticipated advancement on or before December 1st of the school year prior to the September in which the nurse seeks to advance.

Nurses will be eligible to advance to the Master's +30 track subject to the following conditions:

- (i) Graduate school credits shall be from an accredited college or university and must be preapproved by the Superintendent of his/her designee. No college or university credits used to obtain a Master's Degree or earned prior to obtaining Master's degree may be counted and applied toward the Master's + 30 track.
- (ii) No credits earned prior to the September 1, 2014 shall be applied toward the Master's +30 track.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement and Appendix to the contrary, to advance to the Master's +30 track, a nurse shall have no fewer than twelve (12) graduate school credits of the credits necessary to advance to the Master's +30 track; the remaining credits may be in-service credits or CEUs.

38-03 Nurses' Course Reimbursement

- a. Whenever the term "Principal" appears, it is recognized to apply to the building principal or Director of Nursing Services.
- b. The Committee shall make available each year the sum of \$3000 for course reimbursement for unit members. The money shall be disbursed to cover the full cost of courses on a first come, first serve basis. Should the funds not cover the

total cost for all applicants, preference will be given to applicant s that did not receive reimbursement in the previous year.

- (1) Study must be related to school nursing or be part of a specific degree program.
- (2) Written notification of an intention to take a course will be given to the Superintendent by December 1 of the prior year.
- (3) The Superintendent's approval must be obtained prior to entering any course for which reimbursement is claimed.
- (4) Completion of the course with a minimum grade of "B".
- c. Any unusual cases will be decided by the Committee on the recommendation of the Superintendent.
- d. Pending verification of credits earned, the Committee will reimburse Association members in full for all C.E.U.s required for registration renewal by the Massachusetts Board of Registration in Nursing. (The parties agree to the elimination of the current spending caps.)
- e. The Town of Andover will reimburse members for Cardio-Pulmonary Resuscitation updating if this service is not provided by the Town.

38-04 <u>Extended Leaves of Absence for Nurses</u>

- a. Sabbatical Leave for approved full-time study or for other approved educational activities may be allowed to a limited number of personnel who have served five (5) years in the Andover School System. Such leave may be granted for one (1) year or one-half (1/2) year at one-half (1/2) pay for the period of absence regardless of any scholarship awards.
- (1) A preliminary request and plan for the use of request and plan for the use of such leave will be presented to the Committee by the preceding November 1st, a final request by the following April 30th.
- (2) A written report concerning the manner in which the leave was used may be required by the Committee upon completion of the sabbatical leave.

- (3) Any personnel granted a sabbatical leave will contract with the Committee that upon termination of such leave, he/she will return to service in the Andover School System for a period equal to twice the length of the leave.
- (4) Upon returning from such leave, said person will be placed on the salary schedule at the level which he/she would have achieved had he/she remained actively employed in the system during the period of his/her absence.
- (5) Upon return from such leave, said person will be returned to the same position which he/she held at the time said leave commenced, if available, or if not, to an equivalent position.
- (6) A second or third such leave will not be authorized until such personnel will reestablish eligibility by serving another period of five (5) years in the Andover School System.
- b. Leaves of absence for other justified reasons may be granted at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- c. Leaves granted under this Article will not in any way impair the efficiency of the school system.

38-05 Evaluation of Nurses

- a. All bargaining unit members will be formally evaluated annually for the first three (3) years of employment and thereafter every two (2) years. A school nurse who is employed for four years or more whose performance warrants more frequent evaluation will be evaluated consecutive years. The school nurse will be notified in writing of the reasons for this action by the end of the previous school year. Nothing in this section will preclude an administrator from observing the school nurse in the non-evaluating year.
- b. All monitoring or observation of work will be conducted openly and with full knowledge of the employees.
- c. Employees will be made aware of all sources of evaluation concerning their work. All evaluations will be reduced to writing (i.e. pen or word processing) and a copy given to the employee within five (5) days of the evaluation. The employee has the right to discuss the evaluative material with his/her supervisor; each observation will be followed by a personal conference between the

employee and his/her evaluator for purposes of clarifying the written evaluation report. If the employee disagrees with the evaluation and/or the evaluator's judgment, he/she may submit a written answer which will be attached to the file copy of the evaluation in question.

- d. Employees will be made aware in advance of the evaluation criteria upon which their performance is to be judged. While evaluative criteria may be changed at any time, changes in the evaluative model will be implemented only at the beginning of a school year.
- e. No later than June 15th, the school nurse shall receive the written copy of her evaluation.
- f. No material originating after original employment will be placed in a school nurse's personnel file unless the school nurse has had the opportunity to review the material. The school nurse may submit written notification regarding any material and the same will be attached to the file copy of the material in question. If the school nurse is asked to sign material placed in his/her file, such signature will be understood to indicate his/her awareness of the material but in no instance will said signature be interpreted to mean agreement with the content of the material.
- g. In case of a complaint against a school nurse made by any parent, student, or other person, no action will be taken because of such complaint until the school nurse first has the opportunity to present his/her case or viewpoint.

38-06 <u>Continuity of Care</u>

The parties recognize the need and value of continuity of care. Therefore, when a student transfers to an alternate school site within the Town of Andover that does not have a School Nurse permanently assigned to the location, the responsibility for the health and records of that student shall remain with the school nurse appropriate for the child's grade. It is understood that all non-emergent care for such student shall be administered at the nurse's permanent school.

ARTICLE 39

Effect of Agreement

39-01 This instrument constitutes the entire Agreement of the Committee and the Association arrived at as a result of collective bargaining negotiations, except such amendments hereto as shall have been reduced to writing and signed by the parties.

39-02 The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity make demands with respect to any subject matter not removed by the law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understanding and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Committee and the Association for the life of this Agreement, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the rights, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject matter referred to, or covered in this Agreement even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge of contemplation of either or both parties at the time that they negotiated or signed this Agreement.

39-03 Any waiver or breach of condition of this Agreement by either party shall not constitute a precedent with respect to future enforcement of all the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

39-04 Notwithstanding any provision of 39-02, the Committee, during the term of this Agreement, agrees to fulfill its bargaining obligation over wages, hours, terms, and conditions of employment pursuant to Chapter 150E.

39-05 The Committee will bargain, with the Association, the salary and working conditions of all new bargaining unit positions created by the Committee.

ARTICLE 40

Saving Clause

40-01 If any provision of this Agreement is or shall be at any time contrary to law, then such provision shall not be applicable or enforced except to the extent

permitted by law, and any substitute action shall be subject to appropriate negotiations with the Association.

39-02 In the event that any provision of this Agreement is or shall be at any time contrary to law, all other provisions of this Agreement shall continue in effect.

In witness whereof the parties of this Agreement have caused these agents to be executed by their agents hereunto duly authorized, and their seals affixed thereto, as of the date first above written.

APPENDIX A Teachers' Salary Schedule

ANNUAL 2014-2015 **SALARY** (1.5%)

	BACHELOR	BACHELOR+30	MASTERS	MASTERS+30	MASTERS+60	MASTERS+75	DOCTOR
1	43,464.00	45,385.00	48,159.00	51,310.00	54,360.00	56,421.00	60,883.00
2	44,710.00	47,174.00	50,255.00	53,251.00	56,282.00	58,343.00	62,974.00
3	46,507.00	49,525.00	52,748.00	56,282.00	58,789.00	60,852.00	65,781.00
4	48,298.00	51,313.00	54,679.00	57,678.00	60,710.00	62,773.00	67,929.00
5	50,118.00	53,139.00	56,780.00	59,784.00	62,827.00	64,887.00	70,294.00
6	51,909.00	54,925.00	59,061.00	62,077.00	65,155.00	67,216.00	72,904.00
7	53,699.00	56,716.00	61,310.00	64,337.00	67,439.00	69,500.00	75,456.00
8	54,959.00	58,745.00	63,629.00	66,684.00	69,710.00	71,775.00	77,999.00
9	57,774.00	60,964.00	65,985.00	69,049.00	71,956.00	74,019.00	80,511.00
10	59,895.00	63,192.00	68,335.00	71,331.00	74,210.00	76,271.00	83,013.00
11	62,626.00	66,017.00	71,290.00	74,086.00	76,821.00	78,885.00	85,938.00
12	66,604.00	70,481.00	76,027.00	78,883.00	81,647.00	83,709.00	89,831.00
13	70,585.00	74,942.00	80,759.00	83,675.00	86,478.00	88,539.00	93,726.00
14	73,196.00	77,714.00	83,748.00	86,771.00	89,674.00	91,739.00	97,194.00

ANNUAL 2015- 2016 **SALARY** (2%)

	BACHELOR	BACHELOR+3	MASTERS	MASTERS+3	MASTERS+6	MASTERS+7	DOCTOR
		0		0	0	5	
1	44,333.00	46,293.00	49,122.00	52,336.00	55,447.00	57,549.00	62,101.00
2	45,604.00	48,117.00	51,260.00	54,316.00	57,408.00	59,510.00	64,233.00
3	47,437.00	50,516.00	53,803.00	57,408.00	59,965.00	62,069.00	67,097.00
4	49,264.00	52,339.00	55,773.00	58,832.00	61,924.00	64,028.00	69,288.00
5	51,120.00	54,202.00	57,916.00	60,980.00	64,084.00	66,185.00	71,700.00
6	52,947.00	56,024.00	60,242.00	63,319.00	66,458.00	68,560.00	74,362.00
7	54,773.00	57,850.00	62,536.00	65,624.00	68,788.00	70,890.00	76,965.00
8	56,058.00	59,920.00	64,902.00	68,018.00	71,104.00	73,211.00	79,559.00
9	58,929.00	62,183.00	67,305.00	70,430.00	73,395.00	75,499.00	82,121.00
10	61,093.00	64,456.00	69,702.00	72,758.00	75,694.00	77,796.00	84,673.00
11	63,879.00	67,337.00	72,716.00	75,568.00	78,357.00	80,463.00	87,657.00
12	67,936.00	71,891.00	77,548.00	80,461.00	83,280.00	85,383.00	91,628.00
13	71,997.00	76,441.00	82,374.00	85,349.00	88,208.00	90,310.00	95,601.00
14	74,660.00	79,268.00	85,423.00	88,506.00	91,467.00	93,574.00	99,138.00

	201	L6-2	201	.7 (2%)
--	-----	-------------	-----	------	-----

	BACHELOR	BACHELOR+3	MASTERS	MASTERS+3	MASTERS+6	MASTERS+7	DOCTOR
		0		0	0	5	
1	45,220.00	47,219.00	50,104.00	53,383.00	56,556.00	58,700.00	63,343.00
2	46,516.00	49,079.00	52,285.00	55,402.00	58,556.00	60,700.00	65,518.00
3	48,386.00	51,526.00	54,879.00	58,556.00	61,164.00	63,310.00	68,439.00
4	50,249.00	53,386.00	56,888.00	60,009.00	63,162.00	65,309.00	70,674.00
5	52,142.00	55,286.00	59,074.00	62,200.00	65,366.00	67,509.00	73,134.00
6	54,006.00	57,144.00	61,447.00	64,585.00	67,787.00	69,931.00	75,849.00
7	55,868.00	59,007.00	63,787.00	66,936.00	70,164.00	72,308.00	78,504.00
8	57,179.00	61,118.00	66,200.00	69,378.00	72,526.00	74,675.00	81,150.00
9	60,108.00	63,427.00	68,651.00	71,839.00	74,863.00	77,009.00	83,763.00
10	62,315.00	65,745.00	71,096.00	74,213.00	77,208.00	79,352.00	86,366.00
11	65,157.00	68,684.00	74,170.00	77,079.00	79,924.00	82,072.00	89,410.00
12	69,295.00	73,329.00	79,099.00	82,070.00	84,946.00	87,091.00	93,461.00
13	73,437.00	77,970.00	84,021.00	87,056.00	89,972.00	92,116.00	97,513.00
14	76,153.00	80,853.00	87,131.00	90,276.00	93,296.00	95,445.00	101,121.00

APPENDIX A

Explanation of Tracks

- a. Credit for the Master's and Doctoral tracks shall be granted only when the teacher has graduated from a graduate program at an accredited university. Credits accrued as part of the degree may not be applied to track changes.
- b. Credit for the Bachelor plus 30 in-service tracks shall be granted for a courses given or arranged for by the Andover School Department or for approved post graduate coursework not taken in pursuit of the Master's Degree.
- c. Credit toward the Master plus 30 or the Master plus 60 or Master plus 75 track shall be granted in the following way:
- (1.) Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement and Appendix to the contrary, to advance to the next track after September 1, 2012, an employee shall have no fewer than nine (9) graduate school credits of the credits necessary to advance to the next track except that to advance from the Master's +60 track to the Master's +75 track, employees shall have no fewer than six (6) graduate school credits.

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement and Appendix to the contrary, to advance to the next track on or after September 1, 2013, an employee shall have no fewer than twelve (12) graduate school credits of the credits necessary to advance to the next track, except that to advance from the Master's +60 track to the Master's +75 track, employees will have no fewer than six (6) graduate school credits.

Graduate school credits shall be from an accredited college or university and be pre-approved by the Superintendent or his/her designee. No college or university credits used to obtain a Master's Degree or earned prior to obtaining a Master's Degree may be counted and applied toward the Master's +30 track or any subsequent tracks.

Additional Conditions

In all cases below, credit will not be given for a course unless that course has been given prior approval by the Superintendent or his/her designee.

- b. For a teacher to obtain credit for a course (other than in-service) which may be needed because of an anticipated change by the teacher or administrator in assignment, approval must be obtained by the supervising administrator and the Building Principal and in all cases by the Superintendent or his/her designee.
- c. Courses planned by a regional group may be allowed for in-service credit by the Superintendent.
- d. Courses recommended by supervisors for professional improvement may be allowed for credit toward a track change by the Superintendent following the procedure given in "b" above.
- e. In the progress from one degree to another, credits acquired in a matriculated program cannot be used to meet the requirement of a track change.
- g. Credit for any type of program will be limited to twelve (12) per school year from September through June. Credits earned during the summer months will be in addition to the twelve (12) specified provided necessary approvals are obtained as required.
- h. <u>Staff Development Commission</u>: A Staff Development Commission (SDC) will be formed yearly to serve as the screening committee for all functions of the Staff Development Program. It will consider requests and make recommendations for credit value. It will evaluate results of in-service programs and make final judgments for credit value. The SDC shall be comprised of four members chosen by the Association, three administrators appointed by the Superintendent and the Assistant Superintendent. The SDC shall have two cochairs, one chosen by the Association and one chosen by the Superintendent.

In the event of a tie vote, the decision will be granted in favor of the proposal or the individual. If the vote is a four/four tie and the votes align with the four Association votes on one side and the four School Administration on the other side, the co-chairs shall respectively issue an explanation of the approval and the opposition to approval.

The SDC shall afford the Superintendent an opportunity to review proposed inservice programs and to comment on the programs if the Superintendent so chooses. Such comments shall be made timely to the scheduled SDC meeting to consider proposals. Should the Superintendent make a suggestion for change that is not approved, the chairs will respond to the Superintendent indicating the SDC's decision with its rationale.

The SDC shall keep minutes of all meetings.

APPENDIX B

a. Intramurals

Goal - To provide a flexible intramurals program and to meet the varied needs of the students.

Program - The intramurals will follow these guidelines:

- a. Intramurals will be primarily a playing or fun situation.
- b. Intramurals will not necessarily be competitive.
- c. Students will make a commitment to attend.
- d. Activities may be conducted off the school grounds.
- e. Activities may be conducted with other schools.

Procedure - The teacher conducting an intramural will complete a proposal which is approved by the principal and the Director of Physical Education.

Cost - 2014-2017 \$20.08 Intramural hourly rate

COACHING SALARY SCHEDULE

2014-2017

	No. of	Contract
	Coaches	Rate
LEVEL I		
Football		
Varsity Head Coach	1	8,945
Varsity Assistant Coaches	4	4,969
Freshman Head Coach	1	4,472
Freshman Assistant Coach	1	3,603
LEVEL II		
Basketball		
Varsity Head Coach	2	7,599
Junior Varsity Coaches	2	3,852
Freshman Coaches	2	3,852
Spring Track		
Boys/Girls Varsity Head	1	7,599
Coach		
Varsity Assistant Coaches	6	3,852
Winter Track		
Head Coach	1	7, 599
Assistant Coaches	5	3,852

LEVEL III		
Soccer		
Varsity Head Coach	2	5,343
Junior Varsity Coaches	2	3,603
Freshman Head Coach	2	3,603
Ice Hockey		
Varsity Head Coach	2	5,343
Varsity Assistant Coach	2	3,603
Junior Varsity Coach	2	3,603
Gymnastics		
Head Coach	2	5,343
Assistant Coaches	2	3,603
Baseball/Softball		
Varsity Head Coach	2	5,343
Junior Varsity Coach	2	3,603
Freshman Head Coach	2	3,603
Field Hockey		
Varsity Head Coach	1	5,343
Junior Varsity Coach	1	3,603
Freshman Head Coach	1	3,603

		-
Lacrosse		
Varsity Head Coach	2	5,343
Junior Varsity Coach	2	3,603
Freshman Head Coach	2	3,603
Wrestling		
Head Coach	1	5, 343
JV Coach	1	3.603
LEVEL IV		
Cross Country		
Head Coach	1	4,472
Assistant Coach	3	3,416
OI II		
Skiing		
Head Coach	1	4,472
Assistant Coach	1	3,416
Consideration of		
Swimming		
Head Coach	2	4,472
Assistant Coach	2	3,416
Tennis		
Head Coach	2	4,472
Volleyball*		
Head Coach	2	4,472
Assistant Coach	2	3,416
Freshman Coach (Girls)	1	3,416

LEVEL V		
Cheerleading		
Head Coach – Fall	1	3,230
Assistant Cheerleading	1	2,230
Head Coach – Winter	1	3,230
		3,730
Hockey Cheerleading	1	1, 500
Coach *		
Golf		
Head Coach	1	3,230
Other		
Business Manager		
Fall	1	4,101
Winter	1	3,106
Spring	1	3,106

^{*} If an assistant coach is not funded, the Head Coach will be paid at the next higher level (see volleyball and swimming). In addition, if a Cheerleading Coach for Hockey is not appointed, and those duties are assumed by the winter Cheerleading Coach, an additional stipend of \$500 will be added to the winter Cheerleading Coach's position.

Fine Arts positions are under the immediate supervision of the Director of Fine Arts. Extra-curricular positions are under the supervision of the Building Principal. The following criteria will be used to write job descriptions and to establish a benchmark for the amount of the stipend:

Rating Criteria

I. Length of Activity

The actual contact time spend with students during practices, competitions, performances, or activities. The actual time required beyond the school day and/or school calendar (weekends, nights, holidays, vacations).

II. Pressure

The degree of public or parent interest or interaction. The degree of safety involved.

III. Preparation Time and Administrative Requirements

The number of students and assistants involved in the activity; the amount of time required to prepare statistics, coordinate information, review films, and plan activities, practices, competitions, and performances; coordinating with other agencies, handling funds and keeping records.

IV. Expertise

The experience needed to lead/conduct the activity or program.

Review Committee

A review committee may be convened by the Superintendent at the request of the Association, any holder of a fine arts or extra-curricular position, or an administrator for the purpose of adjusting, adding or deleting positions. A committee will be convened within thirty (30) days. The committee will consist of three (3) members appointed by the A.E.A. President and three (3) members appointed by the Superintendent. The Personnel Director will chair this meeting in order to review the meaning of the criteria, provide the job description and maintain minutes.

After a discussion of each of the criteria, members will rate each of the criteria areas. If an adjustment is necessary, this committee will make such a recommendation to the Superintendent.

V. Coaching Evaluations

The AEA and the Andover Public Schools agrees to move forward with a formal process for the annual evaluation of coaches and assistant coaches. The Athletic Director assigned to oversee the sport shall meet with the Head Coach to discuss the evaluation no later than 30 days following the official end of the season. Assistant coaches shall receive a written evaluation no later than 45 days following the season's end. The parties also agree that the evaluation document in use as of 2005 shall be continued until such time as the parties agree to any change.

Extra Curricular Stipends

		2014-2017
Fine Arts	String	3,632
	Music Dir	4,507
	Asst Mus	3,758
	Drama HS	3,132
	Asst Drama HS	2,505
	DramaWHMS	2,505
	DramaDMS	2,505
	DramaWMS	2,505
Band	Director	3,883
	Drill Design	3,633
	Asst Band Dir	2,882
	Percussion	2,882
	Color Guard	2,882
AHS	Sr Class	3,257
AHS	Jr Class	3,257
AHS	So Class	2,004
AHS	Fr Class	2,004
AHS	NHS	2,004
-		<u> </u>
WHMS	Ex-Curric Prog Coord	2,789
DMS	Ex-Curric Prog Coord	2,789
AHS		
	Yearbook	3,883
	Business Editor	2,505
_	Warrior Way	3,132
	TV	2,505
	Outing Club	3,006
	Student Govt	2,255

	- 	
	Newspaper	2,255
	Gay/Straight Alliance	2,255
	Robotics Club	2, 444
	DECA	2,444
	Model UN Club	2, 004
	Debate	2,004
	Science	1,879
	Math	1,879
	Literary Mag	1,879
	Mock Trial	1,879
	Art	1,629
	Chess	1,254
	Community Service	3,132
	Environmental Club	3,132
	Amigos Unidos	2,174
	Asian American Club	2,174
	Dance	1,208
	Senior Exhibition	1,000
	After School Music	1,600
	Program Director	
	Project Teamwork	1,254
	SADD Advisor	2,255
Not funded in Operating Budget		
	AP Coordinator	3,000
	PSAT/NMSQT	2,000
	Coordinator	
DMS	Outing Club	3,006
	Student Govt	2,066
	Newspaper	2,066
	Yearbook	2,066
	Math Team	2,066
	Asst Drama	2,066

	Kids on Block	2,505
WHMS	Outing Club	3,006
	Student Govt	2,066
	Newspaper	2,066
	Yearbook	2,066
	Math Team	2,066
	Asst Drama	2,066
WMS	Outing Club	3,006
	Student Govt	2,066
	Newspaper	2,066
	Yearbook	2,066
	Math Team	2,066
	Asst Drama	2,066

APPENDIX C

PROFESSIONAL STIPENDS / DIFFERENTIALS*

Summer Work/Curriculum	\$30 per hour	7
Work	450 per nour	
Staff Development Instructor	\$1,770 per course	
Staff Development Guest	\$57 per hour	
Instructor	\$57 per nour	
Staff Development	Member \$500	
Commission:	Mellinei \$500	
Commission:	Chair \$600	· <u>-</u>
N-41 D1 C		
National Board Certification	\$1,000 per year	
Outdoor Education	\$150 per day	\$50 per classroom
Home Tutors	B-1 hourly rate	
Learning Specialists (8-02) **	\$3,879	Only if hired before 2001-2002
SPED – Self-contained	\$1,086	
Classroom (8-02)		
Education Team Facilitator	\$2,793	
(8-03)		
School Adjustment Counselor	\$2,793	
(8-04) **		
Mentoring Coordinator	\$5,000	
Mentoring Facilitator	\$1,500	
Aspen Super Users	\$500	
Step 14 M+75 and Step 14	\$500	
Doctorate Teacher Serving as		
Teacher Mentors ***		
Andover High School		
Math Team Leader	\$1000	Stipend discontinued
Foreign Language Team	\$3,000	Stipend discontinued
Leader	. ,	
Fine Arts Team Leader	\$3,000	Stipend discontinued June 2013
English Team Leader	\$5,000	Stipend discontinued June 2008
Social Studies Team Leader	\$5,000	Stipend discontinued June 2008
College Admissions Process	\$1,679	2 positions
Conege Admissions Frocess	\$1,U/7	2 positions

	T	
Middle School (30-03)		
Middle School Team Leader	\$1,639	
Middle School Team Leader	\$820	
(Integrated Arts)		
Middle School Curriculum	\$1,639	
Advisor		
Elementary School		
Elementary Team Leader and		
Speech Language Team		
Leader System-Wide		
	\$874	Team of less than five (5) or more
		teachers
	\$1,202	Team of five (5) or more teachers
	\$438	Specialist Team

^{*} Professional work with no students involvement; work with students is paid based on per diem.

^{**} Those employed for the 2001-2002 School Year and after are not eligible for this stipend/differential.

^{***} When the principal selects a teacher at Step 14, M+75 or Step 14 Doctorate track to be a mentor for non-PTS teachers, such mentor shall attend a training program for mentors and shall receive an annual stipend of \$500.00 for mentoring.

In witness whereof the parties of this Agreement have caused these agents to be executed by their agents hereunto duly authorized, and their seals affixed thereto, as of the date first above written.

For the Committee	For the Association
Anny Colleget	Jet Shomson
1 baul Coly (Lerry a Costello
	Peter Our

Table of Contents

(1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation (2) Definitions (3) **Evidence Used in Evaluation** (4) Rubric (5) **Evaluation Cycle: Training** (6) Evaluation Cycle: Annual Orientation **(7)** Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment (8) Evaluation Cycle: Goal Setting and Educator Plan Development (9) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – **Educators without PTS** Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts -(10)**Educators with PTS** (11) Observations (12)**Evaluation Cycle: Formative Assessment** (13)Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation for Two-Year Self-Directed Plans Only **Evaluation Cycle: Summative Evaluation** (14)**Educator Plans: General** (15)(16) Educator Plans: Developing Educator Plan (17)Educator Plans: Self-Directed Growth Plan (18) Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan (19) Educator Plans: Improvement Plan (20)Career Advancement (21) Rating Impact on Student Learning Growth (22)Using Student feedback in Educator Evaluation (23) Using Staff feedback in Educator Evaluation (24) Transition from Existing Evaluation System Timelines

- (25) General Provisions
- (26) Timeline

((1)) Purpose of Educator Evaluation

- A) This contract language is locally negotiated and based on M.G.L., c.71, § 38; M.G.L. c.150E; the Educator Evaluation regulations, 603 CMR 35.00 et seq. In the event of a conflict between this collective bargaining agreement and the governing laws and regulations, the laws and regulations will prevail.
- B) The regulatory purposes of evaluation are:
 - To promote student learning, growth, and achievement by providing Educators with feedback for improvement, enhanced opportunities for professional growth, and clear structures for accountability;
 - To provide a record of facts and assessments for personnel decisions;
 - iii) To ensure that every school committee has a system to enhance the professionalism and accountability of teachers and administrators that will enable them to assist all students to perform at high levels; and
 - iv) To assure effective teaching and administrative leadership.

((2)) Definitions (* indicates definition is generally based on 603 CMR 35.02)

- A) *Artifacts of Professional Practice: Products of an Educator's work and student work samples that demonstrate the Educator's knowledge and skills with respect to specific performance standards.
- B) Caseload Educator: Educators who teach or counsel individual or small groups of students through consultation with the regular classroom teacher, for example, school nurses, guidance counselors, speech and

- language pathologists, and some reading specialists and special education teachers.
- C) Classroom teacher: Educators who teach preK-12 whole classes, and teachers of special subjects as such as art, music, library, and physical education. May also include special education teachers and reading specialists who teach whole classes.
- D) Categories of Evidence: Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, judgments based on observations and artifacts of professional practice, including unannounced observations of practice of any duration, but generally not less than ten (10) minutes; and additional evidence relevant to one or more Standards of Effective Teaching Practice.
- *District-determined Measures: Measures of student learning, growth and achievement related to the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks, Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks, or other relevant frameworks, that are locally bargained to the extent required by law, comparable across grade or subject level district-wide. These measures may include, but shall not be limited to: portfolios, approved commercial assessments and district-developed pre and post unit and course assessments, and capstone projects.
- F) *Educator(s): Inclusive term that applies to all classroom teachers and caseload educators, unless otherwise noted.
- *Educator Plan: The growth or improvement actions identified as part of each Educator's evaluation. The type of plan is determined by the Educator's career stage, overall performance rating, and the rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement. There shall be four types of Educator Plans:
- H) Developing Educator Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator for one school year or less for an Educator without Professional Teacher Status (PTS); or, at the discretion of an Evaluator, in consultation with the Educator with PTS, in a new assignment.

- I) Self-Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator for one or two school years for Educators with PTS who are rated proficient or exemplary.
- J) Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator of one school year or less for Educators with PTS who are rated needs improvement.
- K) Improvement Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Evaluator, after consultation with the educator, of at least thirty (30) calendar days and no more than one school year for Educators with PTS who are rated unsatisfactory with goals specific to improving the Educator's unsatisfactory performance. In those cases where an Educator is rated unsatisfactory near the close of a school year, the plan may include activities during the summer proceeding the next school year.
- L) *ESE: The Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.
- *Evaluation: The ongoing process of defining goals and identifying, gathering, and using information as part of a process to improve professional performance (the "formative evaluation" and "formative assessment") and to assess total job effectiveness and make personnel decisions (the "summative evaluation").
- N) *Evaluator: Any person designated by a superintendent who has primary or supervisory responsibility for observation and evaluation. The superintendent is responsible for ensuring that all Evaluators have an administrative license and have training in the principles of supervision and evaluation. Each Educator will have one primary Evaluator at any one time responsible for determining performance ratings.
- O) Primary Evaluator shall be the person who determines the Educator's performance ratings and evaluation.

- P) Supervising Evaluator shall be the person responsible for developing the Educator Plan, supervising the Educator's progress through formative assessments, evaluating the Educator's progress toward attaining the Educator Plan goals, and making recommendations about the evaluation ratings to the primary Evaluator at the end of the Educator Plan. The Supervising Evaluator may be the primary Evaluator or his/her designee.
- Q) Teaching Staff Assigned to More Than One Building: Each Educator who is assigned to more than one building will be evaluated by the appropriate administrator where the individual is assigned most of the time. The principal of each building in which the Educator serves must review and sign the evaluation, and may add written comments. In cases where there is no predominate assignment, the superintendent will determine who the primary evaluator will be.
- R) Notification: The Educator shall be notified in writing of his/her primary Evaluator and supervising Evaluator, if any, at the outset of each new evaluation cycle. The Evaluator(s) may be changed upon notification in writing to the Educator.
- S) Evaluation Cycle: A five-component process that all Educators follow consisting of 1) Self-Assessment; 2) Goal-setting and Educator Plan development; 3) Implementation of the Plan; 4) Formative Assessment/Evaluation; and 5) Summative Evaluation.
- T) *Experienced Educator: An educator with Professional Teacher Status (PTS).
- U) *Family: Includes students' parents, legal guardians, foster parents, or primary caregivers.
- V) *Formative Assessment: The process used to assess progress towards attaining goals set forth in Educator plans, performance on standards, or both. This process may take place at any time(s) during the cycle of evaluation, but typically takes place at mid-cycle.

- W) *Formative Evaluation: An evaluation conducted at the end of Year 1 for an Educator on a 2-year Self-Directed Growth plan which is used to arrive at a rating on progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice, or both.
- X) Goal: A specific, actionable, and measurable area of improvement as set forth in an Educator's plan. A goal may pertain to any or all of the following: Educator practice in relation to Performance Standards, Educator practice in relation to indicators, or specified improvement in student learning, growth and achievement. Goals may be developed by individual Educators or specialized instructional support personnel, by the Evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of Educators or specialized instructional support personnel who have the same role. Team goals can be developed by grade level or subject area.
- Y) *Measurable: That which can be classified or estimated in relation to a scale, rubric, or standards.
- Z) Multiple Measures of Student Learning: Measures must include a combination of classroom, school and district assessments, student growth percentiles on state assessments, if state assessments are available, and student ACCESS gain scores. This definition may be revised as required by regulations or agreement of the parties upon issuance of ESE guidance expected by July 2012.
- AA) New Assignments: New assignments shall mean a change in licensure or a change in level, unless an educator has been assigned to that level within the previous five (5) years after attaining Professional Teacher Status.
 - The President of the AEA will be provided with a list of educators proposed for new assignments in the coming school year.
- BB) *Observation: A data gathering process that includes notes and judgments made during one or more classroom or worksite visits(s) of any duration, but generally not less than ten minutes, by the Evaluator and may include examination of artifacts of practice including student

work. An observation shall occur in person. Observations will be done openly and with knowledge of the Educator. The parties agree not to employ video observations until appropriate protocols are developed and agreed upon. Classroom or worksite observations conducted pursuant to this article must result in written feedback to the Educator. Normal supervisory responsibilities of department, building and district administrators will also cause administrators to drop in on classes and other activities in the worksite at various times as deemed necessary by the administrator. Carrying out these supervisory responsibilities, when they do not result in targeted and constructive feedback to the Educator, are not observations as defined in this Article.

- U) Parties: The parties to this agreement are the Andover Education Association and the Andover School Committee.
- V) *Performance Rating: Describes the Educator's performance on each performance standard and overall evaluation. There shall be four performance ratings:
 - Exemplary: the Educator's performance consistently and significantly exceeds the requirements of a standard or overall evaluation. The rating of exemplary on a standard indicates that practice significantly exceeds proficient and could serve as a model of practice on that standard district-wide.
 - Proficient: the Educator's performance fully and consistently meets the requirements of a standard or overall evaluation. Proficient practice is understood to be fully satisfactory.
 - Needs Improvement: the Educator's performance on a standard or overall evaluation is below the requirements of a standard or overall, but is not considered to be unsatisfactory at this time. Improvement is necessary and expected.
 - Unsatisfactory: the Educator's performance on a standard or overall evaluation has not significantly improved following a rating of needs improvement, or the Educator's performance is

consistently below the requirements of a standard or overall and is considered inadequate, or both.

- W) *Performance Standards: Locally developed standards and indicators pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, § 38 and consistent with, and supplemental to 603 CMR 35.00. The parties may agree to limit standards and indicators to those set forth in 603 CMR 35.03.
- X) *Professional Teacher Status: PTS is the status granted to an Educator pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, § 41.
- Y) Rating of Educator Impact on Student Learning: A rating of high, moderate or low based on trends and patterns of student learning, growth and achievement as well as on state assessments and district-determined measures. The parties will negotiate the process for using state and district-determined measures to arrive at an Educator's rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement, using guidance and model contract language from ESE, expected by July 2012.
- Z) Rating of Overall Educator Performance: The Educator's overall performance rating is based on the Evaluator's professional judgment and examination of evidence of the Educator's performance against the four Performance Standards and the Educator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator Plan, as follows:
 - i) Standard 1: Curriculum, Planning and Assessment
 - ii) Standard 2: Teaching All Students
 - iii) Standard 3: Family and Community Engagement
 - iv) Standard 4: Professional Culture
 - v) Attainment of Professional Practice Goal(s)
 - vi) Attainment of Student Learning Goal(s)
- AA) *Rubric: A scoring tool that describes characteristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance. The rubrics for Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice are used to rate Educators on Performance Standards, these rubrics consists of:

- vii) Standards: Describes broad categories of professional practice, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
- viii) Indicators: Describes aspects of each standard, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
- ix) Elements: Defines the individual components under each indicator
- x) Descriptors: Describes practice at four levels of performance for each element
- BB) *Summative Evaluation: An evaluation used to arrive at a rating on each standard, an overall rating, and as a basis to make personnel decisions. The summative evaluation includes the Evaluator's judgments of the Educator's performance against Performance Standards and the Educator's attainment of goals set forth in the Educator's Plan. The Summative Evaluation must be based on evidence from multiple categories of evidence as per the regulations.
- CC)*Superintendent: The person employed by the school committee pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71 §59 and §59A. The superintendent is responsible for the implementation of 603 CMR 35.00.
- DD) *Teacher: An Educator employed in a position requiring a certificate or license as described in 603 CMR 7.04(3)(a, b, and d) and in the area of vocational education as provided in 603 CMR 4.00. Teachers may include, for example, classroom teachers, librarians, guidance counselors, or school nurses.
- EE) *Trends in student learning: At least two years of data from the districtdetermined measures and state assessments used in determining the Educator's rating on impact on student learning as high, moderate or low.
 - FF) Self Assessment: The evaluation cycle shall include self-assessment addressing Performance Standards established through collective bargaining or included in individual employment contracts.
 - (i) Each educator shall be responsible for gathering and providing information to the evaluator on the educator's performance which shall include: an analysis of evidence of student learning, growth and

achievement for students under the educator's responsibility; an assessment of practice against Performance Standards; and proposed goals to pursue to improve practice and student learning, growth, and achievement.

- (ii) The educator shall provide such information, in the form of a self-assessment, in a timely manner to the evaluator at the point of goal setting and plan development.
- (iii) The evaluator shall consider the information provided by the educator and all other relevant information.

((3)) Evidence Used In Evaluation

The following categories of evidence shall be used in evaluating each Educator:

- A) Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, which shall include:
- i) Measures of student progress on classroom assessments that are aligned with the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks or other relevant frameworks and are comparable within grades or subjects in a school;
- ii) At least two district-determined measures of student learning related to the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks or the Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks or other relevant frameworks that are comparable across grades and/or subjects district-wide. These measures may include: portfolios, approved commercial assessments and district- developed pre and post unit and course assessments, and capstone projects. One such measure shall be the MCAS Student Growth Percentile (SGP) and/ or ACCESS gain scores, if applicable, in which case at least two years of data is required.
 - iii) Measures of student progress and/or achievement toward student learning goals set between the Educator and Evaluator for the school year or some other period of time established in the Educator Plan.
 - iv) For Educators whose primary role is not as a classroom teacher, the appropriate measures of the Educator's contribution to student learning, growth, and achievement should be locally bargained to the extent required by law. The measures set by the district should be based on the Educator's role and responsibility.
- B) Judgments based on observations and artifacts of practice including:
 - i) Unannounced observations of practice of any duration, but generally not less than ten (10) minutes.
 - ii) Announced observation(s) for non-PTS Educators in their first year of practice in a school, Educators on Improvement Plans, and as determined by the Evaluator.

- iii) Examination of Educator work samples.
- iv) Examination of student work samples.
- C) Evidence relevant to one or more Performance Standards, including but not limited to:
 - i) Evidence compiled and presented by the Educator, including:
 - (a) Evidence of fulfillment of professional responsibilities and growth such as self-assessments, peer collaboration, professional development linked to goals in the Educator plans, contributions to the school community and professional culture;
 - (b) Evidence of active outreach to and engagement with families;
 - ii) Evidence of progress towards professional practice goal(s);
 - iii) Evidence of progress toward student learning outcomes goal(s).
 - iv) Student and Staff Feedback see # 23-24, below; and
 - v) Any other relevant evidence from any source that the Evaluator shares with the Educator. Other relevant evidence could include information provided by other administrators such as the superintendent.

((4)) Rubric

The rubrics are a scoring tool used for the Educator's self-assessment, the formative assessment, the formative evaluation and the summative evaluation. The district may use either the rubrics provided by ESE or comparably rigorous and comprehensive rubrics developed or adopted by the district and reviewed by ESE. The current rubrics are attached to this agreement, but will be amended as additional rubrics from ESE become available.

((5)) Evaluation Cycle: Training

- A) Prior to the implementation of the new evaluation process contained in this article, districts shall arrange training for all Educators, principals, and other evaluators that outlines the components of the new evaluation process and provides an explanation of the evaluation cycle. The district through the superintendent shall determine the type and quality of training based on guidance provided by ESE.
- B) By November 1st of the first year of this agreement, all Educators shall complete a professional learning activity about self-assessment and goal-setting satisfactory to the superintendent or principal. Any Educator hired after the November 1st date, and who has not previously completed such an activity, shall complete such a professional learning activity about self-assessment and goal-setting within three months of the date of hire. The district through the superintendent shall determine the type and quality of the learning activity based on guidance provided by ESE.

((6)) Evaluation Cycle: Annual Orientation

- A) At the start of each school year, the superintendent, principal or designee shall conduct a meeting for Educators and Evaluators focused substantially on educator evaluation. The superintendent, principal or designee shall:
 - i) Provide an overview of the evaluation process, including goal setting and the educator plans.
 - ii) Provide all Educators with directions for obtaining a copy of the forms used by the district. These may be electronically provided.
 - iii) The faculty meeting may be digitally recorded to facilitate orientation of Educators hired after the beginning of the school year, provided that an announcement is made prior to the meeting that it is being recorded.
 - iv) Provide strategic plan, district and school goals and priorities as well as professional development opportunities related to those goals and priorities.

((7)) Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment

A) Completing the Self-Assessment

i) The evaluation cycle begins with the Educator completing and submitting to the Primary or Supervising Evaluator a self-assessment by October 1st or within four weeks of the start of his or her employment at the school, except for the first year of this agreement when it shall be completed by October 15th or within the first four weeks of employment.

ii) The self-assessment includes:

- (c) An analysis of evidence of student learning, growth and achievement for students under the Educator's responsibility.
- (d) An assessment of practice against each of the four Performance Standards of effective practice using the district's rubric.
- (e) Proposed goals to pursue:
 - (1st) At least one goal directly related to improving the Educator's own professional practice.
 - (2nd) At least one goal directed related to improving student learning.

B) Proposing the goals

- i) Educators must consider goals for grade-level, subject-area, department teams, or other groups of Educators who share responsibility for student learning and results, except as provided in (ii) below. Educators may meet with teams to consider establishing team goals. Evaluators may participate in such meetings.
- ii) For Educators in their first year of practice, the Evaluator or his/her designee will meet with each Educator by October 1st *(or within

four weeks of the Educator's first day of employment if the Educator begins employment after September 15th) to assist the Educator in completing the self-assessment and drafting the professional practice and student learning goals which must include induction and mentoring activities. * 2013-2014 school year or the first year of implementation, the October 15th date will replace the October 1 date, as noted above.

- iii) Unless the Evaluator indicates a PTS Educator in his/her second or third years of practice should continue to address induction and mentoring goals pursuant to 603 CMR 7.12, the Educator may address shared grade level or subject area team goals.
- iv) For Educators with PTS and ratings of proficient or exemplary, the goals may be team goals. In addition, these Educators may include individual professional practice goals that address enhancing skills that enable the Educator to share proficient practices with colleagues or develop leadership skills.
- v) For Educators with PTS and ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory, the professional practice goal(s) must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared grade level or subject area team goals.

((8)) Evaluation Cycle: Goal Setting and Development of the Educator Plan

- A) Every Educator has an Educator Plan that includes, but is not limited to, one goal related to the improvement of practice; one goal for the improvement of student learning. The Plan also outlines actions the Educator must take to attain the goals established in the Plan and benchmarks to assess progress. Goals may be developed by individual Educators, by the Evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of Educators who have the similar roles and/or responsibilities. See Sections 15-19 for more on Educator Plans.
- B) To determine the goals to be included in the Educator Plan, the Evaluator reviews the goals the Educator has proposed in the Self-Assessment, using evidence of Educator performance and impact on student learning, growth and achievement based on the Educator's self-assessment and other sources that Evaluator shares with the Educator. The process for determining the Educator's impact on student learning, growth and achievement will be determined after ESE issues guidance on this matter. See #22, below.
- C) Educator Plan Development Meetings shall be conducted as follows:
 - i) Educators in the same school may meet with the Evaluator in teams and/or individually at the end of the previous evaluation cycle or by October 15th of the next academic year to develop their Educator Plan. Educators shall not be expected to meet during the summer hiatus.
 - ii) For those Educators new to the school, the meeting with the Evaluator to establish the Educator Plan must occur by October 15th or within six weeks of the start of their assignment in that school
 - iii) The Evaluator shall meet individually with Educators with PTS and ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory to develop professional practice goal(s) that must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared grade level or subject matter goals.

- iv) For educators with PTS with ratings of Proficient and Exemplary, the professional practice goal may be team goals. In addition, these educators may include professional practice goals that address enhancing skills that enable the educator to share best practices with colleagues or develop leadership skills.
- v) Unless the evaluator indicates that educators in their second or third year of practice should continue to address induction and mentoring goals, the educator may propose team goals.
- D) The Evaluator completes the Educator Plan by November 1st. The Educator shall sign the Educator Plan within 5 school days of its receipt and may include a written response. The Educator's signature indicates that the Educator received the plan in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents. The Evaluator retains final authority over the content of the Educator's Plan.

((9)) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – Educators without PTS

- A) In the first year of practice or first year in a new assignment:
 - i) The Educator shall have at least two (2) announced observations during the school year using the protocol described in section 11B, below.
 - ii) The Educator shall have at least four (4) unannounced observations during the school year.
- B) In their second and third years of practice or in the second and third years of a new assignment:
 - i) The Educator shall have at least one (1) announced observation during the school year.
 - ii) The Educator shall have at least three (3) unannounced observations during the school year.

((10)) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – Educators with PTS

- A) The Educator whose overall rating is proficient or exemplary must have at least one (1) unannounced observation during the evaluation cycle.
- B) The Educator whose overall rating is needs improvement must be observed according to the Directed Growth Plan during the period of the plan which must include at least two (2) unannounced observations.
- C) The Educator whose overall rating is unsatisfactory must be observed according to the Improvement Plan which must include both unannounced and announced observations. The number and frequency of the observations shall be determined by the Evaluator, but in no case, for improvement plans of one year, shall there be fewer than one (1) announced and four (4) unannounced observations. For Improvement Plans of six months or fewer, there must be no fewer than one (1) announced and two (2) unannounced observations.

((11)) Observations

The Evaluator's first observation of the Educator should take place by November 15. Observations required by the Educator Plan should be completed by May 15th, unless the Educator is on the first year of a two year Self-Directed Growth Plan at which time the observations must be complete by June 15th. The Evaluator may conduct one (1) additional observation after June 15th.

The Evaluator is not required nor expected to review all the indicators in a rubric during an observation.

A) <u>Unannounced Observations</u>

 Unannounced observations may be in the form of partial or fullperiod classroom visitations deemed useful by the Evaluator,

- principal, superintendent or other administrator. The evaluator shall observe the educator generally for at least ten (10) minutes.
- ii) The Educator will be provided with at least brief written feedback from the Evaluator within 3-5 school days of the observation. The written feedback shall be delivered to the Educator in person or by email.
- iii) Any observation or series of observations resulting in one or more standards judged to be unsatisfactory or needs improvement for the first time must be followed by at least one observation of at least thirty (30) minutes in duration within twenty (20) school days.

B) Announced Observations

- i) All non-PTS Educators in their first year in the school and PTS Educators on Improvement Plans shall have at least two (2) announced observations and other educators at the discretion of the evaluator shall have at least one (1) Announced Observation.
 - (a) The Evaluator shall select the date and time of the lesson or activity to be observed and discuss with the Educator any specific goal(s) for the observation. The observation shall be a partial or full class period or observation of service.
 - (b) Within five (5) school days of the scheduled observation, upon request of either the Evaluator or Educator, the Evaluator and Educator shall meet for a pre-observation conference. In lieu of a meeting, the Educator may inform the Evaluator in writing or in email of the nature of the lesson, the student population served, and any other information that will assist the Evaluator to assess performance.
 - (1st) The Educator shall provide the Evaluator a draft of the lesson, student conference, IEP plan or activity. If

- the actual plan is different, the Educator will provide the Evaluator with a copy prior to the observation.
- (2nd) The Educator will be notified as soon as possible if the Evaluator will not be able to attend the scheduled observation. The observation will be rescheduled with the Educator as soon as reasonably practical.
- (c) Within five (5) school days of the observation, the Evaluator and Educator shall meet for a post-observation conference. This timeframe may be extended due to unavailability on the part of either the Evaluator or the Educator, but shall be rescheduled within twenty-four (24) hours if possible.
- (d) The Evaluator shall provide the Educator with written feedback within five (5) school days of the post-observation conference. For any standard where the Educator's practice was found to be unsatisfactory or needs improvement, the feedback must:
 - (1st) Describe the basis for the Evaluator's judgment.
 - (2nd) Describe actions the Educator should take to improve his/her performance.
 - (3rd) Identify support and/or resources the Educator may use in his/her improvement.
 - (4th) State that the Educator is responsible for addressing the need for improvement.

((12)) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Assessment

- A) A specific purpose for evaluation is to promote student learning, growth and achievement by providing Educators with feedback for improvement. Evaluators are expected to make frequent unannounced visits to classrooms. Evaluators are expected to give targeted constructive feedback to Educators based on their observations of practice, examination of artifacts, and analysis of multiple measures of student learning, growth and achievement in relation to the Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice.
- B) Formative Assessment may be ongoing throughout the evaluation cycle but typically takes place mid-cycle when a Formative Assessment report is completed. For an Educator on a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan, the mid-cycle Formative Assessment report is replaced by the Formative Evaluation report at the end of year one. See section 13, below.
- C) The Formative Assessment report provides written feedback and ratings to the Educator about his/her progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Performance Standards and overall, or both
- D) No less than two (2) weeks before the due date for the Formative Assessment report, which due date shall be established by the Evaluator with written notice to the Educator, the Educator shall provide to the Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The educator may provide to the evaluator additional evidence of the educator's performances against the four Performance Standards.
- E) Upon the request of either the Evaluator or the Educator, the Evaluator and the Educator will meet either before or after completion of the Formative Assessment Report.
- F) The Evaluator shall complete the Formative Assessment report and provide a copy to the Educator. All Formative Assessment reports must be signed by the Evaluator and delivered face-to-face or by email.

- G) The Educator may reply in writing to the Formative Assessment report within ten (10) school days of receiving the report. The Educator's reply shall be attached to the report.
- H) The Educator shall sign the Formative Assessment report by within five (5) school days of receiving the report. The signature indicates that the Educator received the Formative Assessment report in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- I) As a result of the Formative Assessment Report, the Evaluator may change the activities in the Educator Plan.
- J) If the rating in the Formative Assessment report differs from the last summative rating the Educator received, the Evaluator may place the Educator on a different Educator Plan, appropriate to the new rating.

((13)) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation for Two Year Self-Directed Plans Only

- A) Educators on two year Self-Directed Growth Educator Plans receive a Formative Evaluation report near the end of the first year, but no later than June 10th, of the first year of the two year cycle. The Educator's performance rating for that year shall be assumed to be the same as the previous summative rating unless evidence demonstrates a significant change in performance in which case the rating on the performance standards may change, and the Evaluator may place the Educator on a different Educator plan, appropriate to the new rating.
- B) The Formative Evaluation report provides written feedback and ratings to the Educator about his/her progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on each performance standard and overall, or both.
- C) No later than May 1st of the first year, the Educator shall provide to the Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining

professional practice and student learning goals. The educator may also provide to the evaluator additional evidence of the educator's performance against the four (4) Performance Standards.

- D) The Evaluator shall complete the Formative Evaluation report and provide a copy to the Educator. All Formative Evaluation reports must be signed by the Evaluator and delivered face-to-face or by email.
- E) Upon the request of either the Evaluator or the Educator, the Evaluator and the Educator will meet either before or after completion of the Formative Evaluation Report.
- F) The Educator may reply in writing to the Formative Evaluation report within ten (10) school days of receiving the report.
- G) The Educator shall sign the Formative Evaluation report within five (5) school days of receiving the report. The signature indicates that the Educator received the Formative Evaluation report in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- H) As a result of the Formative Evaluation report, the Evaluator may change the activities in the Educator Plan.
- I) If the rating in the Formative Evaluation report differs from the last summative rating the Educator received, the Evaluator may place the Educator on a different Educator Plan, appropriate to the new rating.
- J) A copy of the formative assessment will become part of the Educator's personnel file.

((14)) Evaluation Cycle: Summative Evaluation

- A) The evaluation cycle concludes with a summative evaluation report. For Educators on a one (1) or two (2) year Educator Plan, the summative report must be written and provided to the educator by June 15th.
- B) The Evaluator determines a rating on each standard and an overall rating based on the Evaluator's professional judgment, an examination of evidence against the Performance Standards and evidence of the attainment of the Educator Plan goals.

- C) The professional judgment of the primary evaluator shall determine the overall summative rating that the Educator receives.
- D) For an educator whose overall performance rating is exemplary or proficient and whose impact on student learning is low, the evaluator's supervisor shall discuss and review the rating with the evaluator and the supervisor shall confirm or revise the educator's rating. In cases where the superintendent serves as the primary evaluator, the superintendent's decision on the rating shall not be subject to review.
- E) The summative evaluation rating must be based on evidence from multiple categories of evidence. MCAS Growth scores shall not be the sole basis for a summative evaluation rating.
- F) To be rated proficient overall, the Educator shall, at a minimum, have been rated proficient on the Curriculum, Planning and Assessment and the Teaching All Students Standards of Effective Teaching Practice.
- G) No less than four (4) weeks before the due date for the Summative Evaluation report, which due date shall be established by the Evaluator with written notice provided to the Educator, the Educator will provide to the Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The educator may also provide to the evaluator additional evidence of the educator's performance against the four (4) Performance Standards.
- H) The Summative Evaluation report should recognize areas of strength as well as identify recommendations for professional growth.
- I) The Evaluator shall deliver a signed copy of the Summative Evaluation report to the Educator face-to-face or by email no later than May 15th.
- J) The Evaluator shall meet with the Educator rated needs improvement or unsatisfactory to discuss the summative evaluation. The meeting shall occur by June 1st.

- K) The Evaluator may meet with the Educator rated proficient or exemplary to discuss the summative evaluation, if either the Educator or the Evaluator requests such a meeting. The meeting shall occur by June 15th.
- L) Upon mutual agreement, the Educator and the Evaluator may develop the Self-Directed Growth Plan for the following two (2) years during the meeting on the Summative Evaluation report.
- M) The Educator shall sign the final Summative Evaluation report by May 20th. The signature indicates that the Educator received the Summative Evaluation report in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- N) The Educator shall have the right to respond in writing to the summative evaluation which shall become part of the final Summative Evaluation report.
- O) A copy of the signed final Summative Evaluation report shall be filed in the Educator's personnel file.

((15)) Educator Plans - General

- A) Educator Plans shall be designed to provide Educators with feedback for improvement, professional growth, and leadership; and to ensure Educator effectiveness and overall system accountability. The Plan must be aligned to the standards and indicators and be consistent with the strategic plan, district and school improvement plans.
- B) The Educator Plan shall include, but is not limited to:
 - i) At least one (1) goal related to improvement of practice tied to one
 (1) or more Performance Standards;
 - ii) At least one (1) goal for the improvement of learning, growth and achievement of the students under the Educator's responsibility;
 - iii) An outline of actions the Educator must take to attain the goals and benchmarks to assess progress. Actions must include specified professional development and learning activities that the Educator will participate in as a means of obtaining the goals, as well as other support that may be suggested by the Evaluator or provided by the school or district. Examples may include but are not limited to coursework, self-study, action research, curriculum development, study groups with peers, and implementing new programs.
- C) It is the Educator's responsibility to attain the goals in the Plan and to participate in any trainings and professional development provided through the state, district, or other providers in accordance with the Educator Plan.

((16)) Educator Plans: Developing Educator Plan

A) The Developing Educator Plan is for all Educators without PTS and for some educators in a new assignment. Educators without PTS shall be placed on a developing educator plan at the discretion of the Evaluator. Evaluators

will develop the educator plan for Educator's in a new assignment after consultation with the Educator.

B) The Educator shall be evaluated at least annually.

((17)) Educator Plans: Self-Directed Growth Plan

- A) A Two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary, and after 2013-2014 whose impact on student learning is moderate or high. A formative evaluation report is completed at the end of year one (1) and a summative evaluation report at the end of year two (2).
- B) A One-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary, and after 2013-2014 whose impact on student learning is low. In this case, the Evaluator and Educator shall analyze the discrepancy between the summative evaluation rating and the rating for impact on student learning to seek to determine the cause(s) of the discrepancy.

((18)) Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan

- A) A Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS whose overall rating is needs improvement.
- B) The goals in the Plan must address areas identified as needing improvement as determined by the Evaluator.
- C) The Evaluator shall complete a summative evaluation for the Educator at the end of the period determined by the Plan, but at least annually, and in no case later than May 15th.
- D) For an Educator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is at least proficient, the Evaluator will place the Educator on a Self-Directed Growth Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle.

E) For an Educator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is not at least proficient, the Evaluator will rate the Educator as unsatisfactory and will place the Educator on an Improvement Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle.

((19)) Educator Plans: Improvement Plan

- A) An Improvement Plan is for those Educators with PTS whose overall rating is unsatisfactory. The President of the AEA will be informed of an educator rated unsatisfactory.
- B) The parties agree that in order to provide students with the best instruction, it may be necessary from time to time to place an Educator whose practice has been rated as unsatisfactory on an Improvement Plan of no fewer than thirty (30) calendar days and no more than one (1) school year. In the case of an Educator receiving a rating of unsatisfactory near the close of one (1) school year, the Improvement Plan may recommend activities that occur during the summer before the next school year begins.
- C) The Evaluator must complete a summative evaluation for the Educator at the end of the period determined by the Evaluator for the Plan.
- D) An Educator on an Improvement Plan shall be assigned a Supervising Evaluator (see definitions). The Supervising Evaluator is responsible for providing the Educator with guidance and assistance in accessing the resources and professional development outlined in the Improvement Plan. The primary evaluator may be the Supervising Evaluator.
- E) The Improvement Plan shall define the problem(s) of practice identified through the observations and evaluation and detail the improvement goals to be met, the activities the Educator must take to improve and the assistance to be provided to the Educator by the district.
- F) The Improvement Plan process shall include:
 - i) Within ten (10) school days of notification to the Educator that the Educator is being placed on an Improvement Plan, the Evaluator shall schedule a meeting with the Educator to discuss the Improvement Plan.

The Evaluator will develop the Improvement Plan, which will include the provision of specific assistance to the Educator.

- ii) The Educator may request that a representative of the Association attend the meeting(s).
- G) The Improvement Plan shall:
 - Define the improvement goals directly related to the performance standard(s) and/or student learning outcomes that must be improved;
 - Describe the activities and work products the Educator must complete as a means of improving performance;
 - iii) Describe the assistance that the district will make available to the Educator;
 - Articulate the measurable outcomes that will be accepted as evidence of improvement;
 - v) Detail the timeline for completion of each component of the Plan, including at a minimum a mid-cycle formative assessment report of the relevant standard(s) and indicator(s);
 - vi) Identify the individuals assigned to assist the Educator which must include minimally the Supervising Evaluator.
 - vii) Include the signatures of the Educator and Association President or designee; such signatures indicate receipt of the Improvement Plan.
- H) A copy of the signed Plan shall be provided to the Educator. The Educator's signature indicates that the Educator received the Improvement Plan in a timely fashion. The signature does not indicate agreement or disagreement with its contents.
- Decision on the Educator's status at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan.
 - i) All determinations below must be made no later than June 1. One of three decisions must be made at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan:

- (a) If the Evaluator determines that the Educator has improved his/her practice to the level of proficiency, the Educator will be placed on a Self-Directed Growth Plan.
- (b) In those cases where the Educator was placed on an Improvement Plan as a result of his/her summative rating at the end of his/her Directed Growth Plan, if the Evaluator determines that the Educator is making substantial progress toward proficiency, the Evaluator shall place the Educator on a Directed Growth Plan.
- (c) In those cases where the Educator was placed on an Improvement Plan as a result of his/her Summative rating at the end of his/her Directed Growth Plan, if the Evaluator determines that the Educator is not making substantial progress toward proficiency, the Evaluator shall recommend to the superintendent that the Educator be dismissed.
- (d) If the Evaluator determines that the Educator's practice remains at the level of unsatisfactory, the Evaluator shall recommend to the superintendent that the Educator be dismissed.

((20)) Career Advancement

In order to attain Professional Teacher Status, the Educator should achieve ratings of proficient or exemplary on each of the four Performance Standards and an overall rating of proficient or exemplary. A principal considering making an employment decision that would lead to PTS for any Educator who has not been rated proficient or exemplary on each performance standard and achieved an overall rating of proficient or exemplary on the most recent evaluation shall confer with the superintendent by May 1. The principal's decision is subject to review and approval by the superintendent.

((21)) Rating Impact on Student Learning Growth

ESE will provide model contract language and guidance on rating educator impact on student learning growth based on state and district-determined measures of student learning. Upon receiving this model contract language and guidance, the parties agree to bargain with respect to this matter.

((22)) Using Student feedback in Educator Evaluation

ESE will provide model contract language, direction and guidance on using student feedback in Educator Evaluation by June 30, 2013. Upon receiving this model contract language, direction and guidance, the parties agree to bargain with respect to this matter.

((23)) Using Staff feedback in Educator Evaluation

ESE will provide model contract language, direction and guidance on using staff feedback in Administrator Evaluation by June 30, 2013. Upon receiving this model contract language, direction and guidance, the parties agree to bargain with respect to this matter.

((24)) Transition from Existing Evaluation System

A) All Educators will be subject to the new evaluation system.

- B) Non-Professional Teacher Status (NPTS) Educators and Educators beginning a new assignment will be placed on a Developing Educator Plan except if such Educator is subject to Section E below.
- C) Professional Teacher Status (PTS) Educators who were not evaluated in the 2013-2014 school year under the current system will be placed in year two of a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan.
- D) Professional Teacher Status (PTS) Educators who in the 2012-2013 school year completed their Traditional Evaluation or TERC Alternative Evaluation will be placed in year one of a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan unless they were recommended for an Improvement Plan during the 2012-2013 evaluation cycle.
- E) Professional Teacher Status (PTS) Educators who in the 2012-2013 school year were recommended for an Improvement Plan at the conclusion of the 2012-2013 evaluation cycle (Traditional Evaluation or TERC Alternative Evaluation) will be placed on an Improvement Plan during the 2013-2014 evaluation cycle.

((25)) General Provisions

- A) Only Educators who are licensed may serve as primary evaluators of Educators.
- B) Evaluators shall not make negative comments about the Educator's performance, or comments of a negative evaluative nature, in the presence of students, parents or other staff, except in the unusual circumstance where the Evaluator concludes that s/he must immediately and directly intervene. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to limit an administrator's ability to investigate a complaint, or secure assistance to support an Educator.
- C) The superintendent shall insure that Evaluators have training in supervision and evaluation, including the regulations and standards and indicators of effective teaching practice promulgated by ESE (35.03), and the evaluation Standards and Procedures established in this Agreement.

- D) Should there be a serious disagreement between the Educator and the Evaluator regarding an overall summative performance rating of unsatisfactory, the Educator may meet with the Evaluator's supervisor to discuss the disagreement. Should the Educator request such a meeting, the Evaluator's supervisor must meet with the Educator. The Evaluator may attend any such meeting at the discretion of the superintendent. The Superintendent may determine that an additional announced observation is warranted. Such observation shall be done by another district evaluator.
 - E) The parties agree to establish a joint labor-management evaluation team which shall review the evaluation processes and procedures annually through the first three years of implementation and recommend adjustments to the parties.
 - F) Violations of this article are subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures. The arbitrator shall determine whether there was substantial compliance with the totality of the evaluation process. When the evaluation process results in the termination or non-renewal of an Educator, then no financial remedy or reinstatement shall issue if there was substantial compliance. Nothing in this article diminishes an employee's rights under M.G.L., Chapter 71 and Article 26-06 of the Agreement.